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Central Bank of Lesotho
P O Box 395
MASERU 100
Lesotho

March 31, 2008

Honourable Minister
Ministry of Finance and Development Planning
P O Box 395
MASERU 100
Lesotho

Honourable Minister

I have the honour to transmit the Annual Report of the Central Bank of Lesotho for the year 2007,
which includes:

(a) a review of economic developments during the year; and

(b) in accordance with Section 53 (1) of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No.2 of 2000:

i) the Bankʼs annual accounts for the year ended December 31, 2007, certified by Sheeran &
Associates assisted by Pricewaterhouse Coopers; and

ii) a report on the Bankʼs operations and statement of affairs during 2007.

Yours faithfully

M. Senaoana (PhD)
GOVERNOR
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are systemic and inherent in the financial sec-
tor. The current overlapping of licensing pow-
ers of some cadres of deposit taking financial
institutions creates a problem of invasive
behaviour, thus resulting in unlawful and unreg-
ulated activities that are also difficult to detect.
It is therefore vital that the Central Bank of
Lesotho partners with other licensing and regu-
latory authorities in the country to remove
these overlaps and streamline their activities to
avoid conflict and the emergence and opera-
tion of illegal financial institutions that may
have negative impacts to financial sector stabil-
ity.

During the year, the Government of Lesotho
received a multi million grant from the US
Government under the Millennium Challenge
Corporation for improvements in water related
infrastructure, health sector and private sector
development. Our infant financial sector stands
to benefit significantly from this grant. The
grant will assist in the establishment of the
commercial court, the national identity system
and the credit bureau which are expected to
reduce hassles currently experienced by the
financial sector in their credit extension activi-
ties. Furthermore, the payment and settlement
system will be upgraded by the introduction of
automated clearing and alternative payment
options. These activities will deepen the finan-
cial integration between Lesotho and South
Africa and reduce costs and times associated
with funds transfer.

The Government of Lesotho also signed an
agreement of a concessional loan with the
International Fund for Agricultural Development
(IFAD) intended to promote and improve rural
financial intermediation over the next seven
years commencing 2008. The programme pro-
poses cooperation between the Ministry of
Finance and Development Planning (MoFDP),
the Central Bank of Lesotho, the Department of
Cooperatives under the Ministry of Trade,
Industry, Cooperatives and Marketing (MTICM)

The economy of Lesotho has remained sound
during the review period. Economic growth as
measured by Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
was 5.1 per cent. The economy was negatively
affected by the worst drought in 40 years which
led to a plunge in domestic cereal production.
However, the rapidly growing diamond mining
industry curbed the impact on the overall
growth. Budgetary operations registered an
overall surplus equivalent to 10.3 per cent of
GDP. The current account also recorded a sur-
plus equivalent to 1.9 per cent as a share of
GDP. However, the rate of inflation rate was
considered high at 7.9 per cent. This emanated
from the increases in the prices of oil and food.
Although challenging, inflationary pressures
are expected to abate in future. Despite the
positive performance of the economy and pru-
dence in macroeconomic management, there
are challenges that the economy still faces.

A stable political climate is a necessary condi-
tion for a stable macroeconomic environment
and growth in any economy. During 2007, a
number of stay-aways from work related to the
political climate, negatively affected productivi-
ty and output and hence income in the econo-
my. It is important to note that these instances
also affect investor sentiments adversely. In
addition, the loss of wages for households due
to lost work days and incomes does not augur
well for the Governmentʼs efforts in poverty
reduction.

The growth and stability of the financial sector
has been proved to be a vital and major stimu-
lant of economic growth. Stability in the finan-
cial sector is maintained through the rule of law
and prudent regulation and supervision of
financial institutions by authorities charged with
such responsibilities. In turn, it is essential that
regulatory authorities should possess adequate
capacity to discharge their duties in a meaning-
ful and sound manner. The importance of pru-
dence in regulation and supervision cannot be
over emphasised as it reduces the risks that

FOREWORD BY GOVERNOR
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in strengthening the supervision of non-bank
financial institutions and streamlining their
activities to better serve the rural poor.

It is envisaged that the current on-going nego-
tiations under the Economic Partnership
Agreements will yield positive results for the
economy. The role and importance of Lesothoʼs
trade to the growth of the economy has been
widely acknowledged.

M. P. Senaoana (PhD)
GOVERNOR
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1.1 Background

The financial sector of Lesotho has undergone
various stages of development through the
years. The late 1990s saw the restructuring of
two state own banks, which resulted in liquida-
tion of one and privatisation of another. In addi-
tion, the Bank introduced new central bank and
financial institutions legislation. The former
strengthened supervisory and regulatory pow-
ers of the Bank and clarified its mandate while
the latter introduced modern prudential prac-
tices. These measures reversed the precarious
financial state of the banking system by adding
more capital, restructuring the loan books and
returning profitability, amongst others.
However, the closure of state-owned banks left
a large gap in the provision of banking services
to low-income households, especially those
dwelling in rural areas. This gap was narrowed
by the establishment of the Lesotho Postbank
(LPB) in 2004, which utilised a wide network of
branches across the country. The LPB oper-
ates under a restricted licence by which it
mobilises deposits but does not extend credit.
Thus, a large portion of demand for credit by
small entities and individuals was still left unad-
dressed. Efforts to increase competition by
attracting more foreign owned banks only
worked in improving the choice of banking
services faced by urban dwellers. In this
regard, the Central Bank in its newly defined
strategic plan identifies the facilitation of devel-
opment of indigenous banks that will address
the needs of the rural poor as a focus area.

This article presents arguments around the
development of indigenous banks in the
Lesothoʼs financial sector. First, service gaps in
the banking system are identified. Second, a
discussion on the envisaged structure of
indigenous banks is presented while the last
section gives the way forward.

1.2 The Current Situation

Lesothoʼs financial sector is currently com-
prised of three commercial banks and a state

owned Postbank, five insurance companies
and money lenders. All commercial banks are
subsidiaries of South African banks. Since the
restructuring of state-owned banks, services of
commercial banks have been concentrated in
urban areas which are mostly located in the
lowlands. As a result, only 37.6 per cent of
household heads had a bank account in
2002/03, according to the Household budget
Survey report released in November 2006.

The distribution of credit amongst those who
have access to banking services is also
skewed in favour of a few large institutions and
companies. In December 2007, the top 20 bor-
rowers accounted for close to 38 per cent of
total loans extended by commercial banks. In
addition, the level of credit extended to the pri-
vate sector as a whole is considered low. The
ratio of credit to deposits of the private sector
indicates that only 37 per cent of deposits
mobilised from the private sector had been
issued as credit in 2007 (see Table 1). Although
this ratio has been increasing in recent years,
this level is considered low. Commercial banks
currently have the potential to lend close to 70
per cent of their deposit liabilities without con-
travening the current liquidity requirements, set
at 25 per cent of admissible liabilities.

Central Bank of Lesotho

Table 1
CREDIT DEPOSIT RATIO

(Percentages)

2000 2001 2003 2005 2006 2007
Credit Deposit 23 25 26 47 33 37
ratio

Deposits not issued as credit are either invest-
ed in domestic treasury bills, mainly to meet the
liquidity requirements, or transferred to South
Africa. The latter option is generally favoured
for the alleged reasons that a risk differential
exists between Lesotho and South Africa, and
there is limited investment opportunities in the
local market. The presumed risk differential is
compensated for by adding a premium on
domestic lending rates which keeps them high-
er than comparable rates in South Africa.
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The purported existence of risk differential
might be inaccurate given the generally similar
finance-related legislation in the two countries,
and the free movement of funds within coun-
tries in the CMA region. However, a number of
weakness in the financial sector exist which
might influence the conservative approach of
commercial banks in Lesotho. The process of
handling commercial cases has not been effi-
cient due to delays with the operation of the
commercial courts. This makes it a challenge to
realise values from collateral pledged on
defaulted loans. In addition, the absence of
credit bureaux means that information for use
in assessing credit worthiness of borrowers is
limited. Lack of identification (ID) cards and use
of passports for identification leads to changing
identity numbers of individuals, making it diffi-
cult to trace borrowers who default. The under-
developed nature of the private sector could
mean that bankable projects are limited as
commercial banks claim.

Most of the bottlenecks are currently being
addressed as part of private sector develop-
ment under the funding of MCC. The civil legal
system is being reformed to allow the operation
of commercial courts, reduce litigation costs
and the time it takes to settle disputes. These
would be achieved by introducing a modern
case management system; alternative dispute
resolution process and easy small claims pro-
cedures. The Bank along with the Government
and the US through its Millennium Challenge
Compact is working on the establishment of
credit bureaux and a national ID system to
address the problem of identification of borrow-
ers. Efforts are underway to facilitate the
development of the private sector by improving
the use of land as an economic asset through
the reform of the lease issuance system and
simplification of business registration proce-
dures. Legislation addressing issues of equali-
ty of men and women in marriage in terms abil-
ity to contract legally came into effect in 2006.
These reforms will raise the credit worthiness
of most businesses and households by allow-
ing them to pledge their properties as collater-

al. The new legislation will enhance the eco-
nomic potential of women, who form the major-
ity of residents and heads of an increasing
number of households.

As mentioned earlier, the LPB was established
to reduce the banking services gap left by the
restructuring of state-owned banks. The vol-
ume of deposits mobilised by LPB has more
than quadrupled since it started operations in
January 2005. Thus, success is observed on
the deposit mobilisation side, but capacity con-
straints and the limited license has resulted in
zero credit and weak financial performance.
Limited credit from the formal banking sector
has resulted in rampant emergence of unregis-
tered money lenders who charge exorbitant
interest rates. Instead of improving the eco-
nomic situation of borrowers, these lenders
suppress them by creating debt traps.

The Bank established a Credit Guarantee Fund
(CGF) and a linkage programme by which it
encourages rural financial intermediation by
helping informal rural savings and credit
groups to formalise their operations through
registration and keeping proper account in
order to receive credit from commercial banks.
Commendable progress has been achieved on
some groups and evidence shows that others
are now encouraged to develop their opera-
tions as well. In addition, the emergence of
cooperatives that attempt to fill the banking
void has been observed. These institutions
have presented a challenge to the Bank by
mobilising deposits from non-members (as this
is privilege of banks registered and subjected
to the stringent requirements of the Financial
Institutions Act of 1999 for protection of depos-
itors).

1.3 Envisaged Structure of Indigenous
Financial Institutions

Financial intermediation to the majority of indi-
viduals, households and smaller business has
been limited as a result of urban-concentrated
banks. Attracting more foreign banks has

2007 Annual Report
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improved services availed to urban dwellers
and made a small dent on credit extension.
This leaves the facilitation of privately owned
domestic banks as an area of focus for the
Central Bank. Thus, facilitating the develop-
ment of indigenous banks is core within the
strategic plan of the Bank.

Indigenous banks in this context refer to banks
established by domestic entities in the form of
individuals, cooperatives or companies. They
can take the form of commercial banks, invest-
ment banks, mutual funds, cooperative banks
or microfinance institutions, amongst others. A
possible role of government is also envisaged,
in the beginning, due to the demands of estab-
lishing a bank in terms of capital requirements;
expertise; infrastructure and legal require-
ments. However, focus will be placed on private
sector ownership, in line with the overall objec-
tive of developing entrepreneurial culture spec-
ified in Vision 2020.

It is expected that due to their knowledge of the
domestic economy, resident entities would be
in a better position to meet the needs of the
market. The relatively small size of indigenous
banks would allow them to introduce spe-
cialised products targeted at different segments
of the market. A large portion of their profits is
likely to be reinvested domestically and have a
stronger effect on overall economic growth. A
possible large network of these banks across
the country would serve rural households while
raising incomes through creation of employ-
ment. The experience of banking activities of
cooperatives has shown that they are able to
mobilise customers rapidly, are more generous
in granting credit and more innovative in prod-
uct designs.

1.4 Way Forward

The present legislation envisaged large com-
mercial banks with a minimum start-up capital
requirement and other requirements safe-
guarding complex commercial banking activi-
ties. Therefore, it acts as an obstacle to the

emergence of small indigenous banks and
encourages the emergence of relatively large
microfinance institutions and cooperatives
operating as banks. Thus the review of the leg-
islation is one of the first activities to be under-
taken.

The CBL is embarking on the review of legisla-
tion of the money lenders and cooperatives
under an International Fund for Agricultural
development (IFAD) sponsored programme,
the Rural Financial Intermediation Programme
(RUFIP). Under the same programme, the CBL
is going to draw new legislation to allow it to
regulate and supervise microfinance institu-
tions and other non-bank financial institutions.
The system will entail a tier system with differ-
ing regulatory requirements such as minimum
capital and liquidity levels, in line with the types
and sizes of institutions. The Central Bank
plans to regulate all deposit taking microfi-
nance and non-bank financial institutions and
leave non-deposit taking institutions to the
supervision of other appropriate authorities.
The programme also envisages the transfor-
mation of some of the groups that are currently
under the CBLʼs credit guarantee fund and link-
age programme into cooperatives supervised
under the Ministry of Trade. The Department of
Cooperatives in this Ministry is to be strength-
ened and capacitated to undertake this task.

RUFIP comprises three key components. The
first component is intended at developing for-
mal and semi-formal member-based financial
institutions in order to meet demand of grass-
roots financial services. This would be
achieved by building capacity of financial coop-
eratives; rural savings and credit groups and
informal financial groups. The second compo-
nent will facilitate the development of formal
financial institutions to better meet rural finan-
cial intermediation needs. The component will
focus on strengthening the Lesotho Postbank
through upgrading of the institutional and oper-
ational framework, as well as undertaking mar-
ket studies, project development and linkage
programme.

Central Bank of Lesotho
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The third component would create an enabling
environment by facilitating the development of
related legal and regulatory framework by
implementing institutions such as the Central
Bank and Department of Cooperatives. On the
Central Bank side, the Financial Institutions Act
(FIA) will be reviewed to broaden its definition
of collateral with a view to facilitating commer-
cial bank lending to the rural poor. This process
will also entail a study of collateral arrange-
ments dictated by South African banking stan-
dards, which guide parent companies of most
commercial banks in Lesotho. In addition, a
sound regulatory framework for non-bank
financial institutions will be put in place and
capacity building in the form of strengthening
the non-banks supervision division of the
Central Bank undertaken. The latter will be
achieved through several training programmes
and study tours; preparation of supervision
manuals as well as guidelines on reporting and
audit for different types of non-bank financial
institutions.
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2. Introduction

The global economy lost momentum during
2007. The slowdown was greatest in advanced
economies, particularly in the United States
(US), where the developments in the housing
market continue to exacerbate financial stress.
Growth in Europe has also decelerated,
although economic activity in Japan has shown
admirable resilience. The emerging markets,
such as China and India, and developing coun-
tries have been less affected by financial mar-
ket developments in the US and have also con-
tinued to grow rapidly. Global headline inflation
has also increased during the year under
review, boosted largely by high food and oil
prices.

Within this framework, the economy of Lesotho
remains highly vulnerable to changes in SA in
particular, due to proximity and strong trade
and financial linkages. Water, diamonds, tex-
tiles and clothing constitute its primary export
products. The economy is also dependent on
agriculture, livestock and migrant mineworkersʼ
remittances from South Africa.

A large proportion of Lesothoʼs diamond
exports is destined to the Euro-zone while the
United States (US) imports a large proportion
of textiles and clothing from Lesotho under the
African Growth and Opportunities Act (AGOA).
Lesotho is also a price taker in most of the mar-
kets in a sense that the country cannot influ-
ence prices in international markets. It is a
member of regional economic integration
blocks such as Southern African Customs

Union (SACU) and Common Monetary Area
(CMA), which allow for free trade and capital
mobility in the region.

2.1 Industrialised Countries

2.1.1 The United States (US)

Economic growth in the US slowed to 2.2 per
cent in 2007 compared with 3.3 per cent
recorded in 2006 mainly due to the sub-prime
mortgage lending crisis6. The crisis led to a
deceleration in consumer spending, reduced
factory inventories, and a decline in exports. As
a result of the slower US economic growth rate
in 2007, the IMF estimated that the unemploy-
ment rate for the year under review would
remain roughly unchanged at 4.7 per cent.

The rate of inflation remained unchanged at 2.8
per cent in 2007. This emanated from a slow-
down in consumer demand. At this rate, infla-
tion is still considered to be high since it is
above the psychological rate of 2.0 per cent.
Although the inflation rate was high during the
year, the impeding slower economic growth
influenced the Federal Reserve Bankʼs Open
Market Committee (FOMC) to reduce its
benchmark lending rate by 100 basis points
during the year from 5.25 per cent at the end of
2006 to 4.25 per cent.

The slower US economic growth and higher
inflation rate do not bode well for the economy
of Lesotho as a large share of Lesothoʼs
exports is destined to the US market.

PART II: WORLD ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS AND THEIR
IMPLICATIONS ON THE LESOTHO ECONOMY

6 See Box 1.
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8 Euro-zone: Austria, Belgium, Germany, Greece, Finland,
France, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Portugal
and Spain

2.1.2 The Euro-Zone

Real GDP in the Euro-zone7 grew by 2.6 per
cent in 2007 against 2.8 per cent realised in
2006. The slower economic growth was

realised in one of the largest Euro-zone
economies, France.

The economic slowdown in the region was not
strong enough to adversely affect employment
levels as unemployment rate in the region fluc-
tuated between 7.2 and 7.5 per cent during the
year compared to 7.8 per cent realised in 2006.
This implies positive business confidence in the

2007 Annual Report

BOX 1: The Sub Prime Lending Crisis in the United States: An Overview

Sub-prime lending is the practice of lending to borrowers who do not qualify under the nor-
mal market interest rates because of their weak credit ratings, characterised by a history of
defaults, no down-payments and no verification of assets. This type of lending is effected
on terms of higher interest rates than market rates because of the risk involved. Proponents
of sub-prime lending maintain that the practice extends financial services to people who
would otherwise not have access to them.

The sub-prime lending became a crisis when rising interest rates led to the decline in house
prices and inability to service the mortgages by the sub-prime borrowers. This led to the loss
of houses through foreclosures by many households in the US. Bankʼs obligations were ini-
tially taken onto the balance sheets, but were removed at a later stage through securitisa-
tion. The crisis manifested itself through liquidity shortages in major financial institutions
exposed to defunct sub-prime linked securities and a credit crunch driven by risk averse
lenders. The problem extended beyond the sub-prime mortgage sector in the US and else-
where as credit conditions tightened across the board and parts of the credit markets in var-
ious countries ceased to function effectively leading to a restriction on the availability of
credit in the world financial markets.

As a consequence of the sub-prime mortgage lending problem, building activity fell by 16.9
per cent in the US during the year, the biggest decline in twenty five years. In addition, some
regions of the world were affected by the sub-prime mortgage lending problem. For
instance, Northern Rock bank in the United Kingdom was affected and encountered liquid-
ity shortages. Other banks in other developed countries such as France, Germany and the
United Kingdom announced the presence of liquidity constraints. Therefore, various finan-
cial institutions in these countries undertook a desperate attempt to obtain funding in the
inter-bank market. The emergence of uncertainty about risk led to a decline in confidence
and hence liquidity.

In 2007, emerging markets did not experience the same magnitude of disruptions in their
financial markets as the developed economies.
This could be a confirmation of the decoupling argument that non-US economies such as

China and India will continue to drive global economic activity. However, a sustained slow-
down in the US economy resulting from the sub-prime lending crisis could adversely affect

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
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region.
According to IMF projections, annual average
inflation rate in the region, as measured by
changes in the Harmonised Index of Consumer
Prices (HICP), closed the year at 2.0 per cent
in 2007 against 2.2 per cent realised in 2006. At
this rate, it is at the European Central Bankʼs
(ECB) targeted rate. The ECB raised its bench-
mark-lending rate during the year from 3.25 per
cent to 4.0 per cent.

Economic developments in the Euro-zone have
an effect on Lesothoʼs economy as most of
Lesothoʼs diamond exports are destined to this
region. Furthermore, the European Union (EU)
is also South Africaʼs (SA) main trading partner.
Shocks to the SA economy could be transmit-
ted to Lesotho.
Thus the slowdown in economic activity in the

Euro-Zone does not augur well for both SA and
Lesotho economies.

2.2 Emerging Markets

Economic growth in Emerging Asia8 remained
rapid in 2007 as a result of strong economic
performance in China and India. Economic
expansion in China was driven by acceleration
in exports and investment while domestic
demand in India led to higher investment
expenditure. Economic growth also accelerat-
ed in other major countries such as Indonesia,
Korea, The Philippines and Singapore.
However, political uncertainty in Thailand
undermined confidence and domestic demand.
The IMF estimated that the region would
realise a real GDP growth of 9.2 per cent in
2007 as opposed to 9.3 per cent observed in
the previous year. Growth for 2007 was record-
ed at 11.4 per cent for China and projected at
8.9 per cent for India.

High oil and food prices continue to exert
upward pressure on regional inflation rate,
which was estimated at an annual rate of 4.9
per cent in the review year compared with 3.7

per cent in 2006. The observed acceleration in
the inflation rate in the region could exert
upward pressure on the cost of raw materials to
Lesothoʼs manufacturing firms, thereby
increasing the countryʼs import bill, as most of
the local textile firms source raw materials from
Asia.

The current account surplus in emerging Asia
was projected to increase to 6.6 per cent of
GDP in 2007, from 5.8 per cent realised in
2006. Foreign direct investment dominated net
capital inflows and is a major source of foreign
exchange for India, Korea and Vietnam, in par-
ticular. However, current account deficits were
observed in other countries in the region such
as India and Pakistan.

Economic activity in Latin America was expect-
ed to weaken in 2007, due to spill-overs ema-
nating from the slowdown of economic activity
in the US through trade linkages as well as
slower remittances from migrant workers.
Furthermore, the end of the hotel construction
boom in the Caribbean was also expected to
contribute towards a slowdown. The IMF pro-
jections indicated a deceleration in the growth
rate of GDP from 5.4 per cent realised in 2006
to 5.3 per cent in 2007.

Signals observed in emerging markets could
lead to negative implications for developing
countries like Lesotho. Inflation in emerging
Asia could adversely affect Lesotho exports
competitiveness through increased costs, and
weakness in Latin American economic activity
could reduce profits and investments of sister
manufacturing companies operating in
Lesotho.

2.3 South Africa

Real GDP in SA increased by 5.1 per cent in
2007 compared with 5.4 per cent in 2006
despite the energy crisis that SA is experienc-
ing and that is expected to have adversely
affected production. The main contributors to
the increase were the finance, real estate and

8 Consists of developing Asia, newly industrialised Asian
economies, and Mongolia
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business services (1.6 per cent), wholesale,
retail trade, hotels and restaurants (0.7 per
cent), manufacturing and construction (0.6 per
cent each), transport and communication (0.5
per cent) and general government (0.4 per
cent).

The rate of inflation, as measured by changes
in the consumer price index excluding interest
on mortgage bonds (CPIX) closed the year
higher than at the end of the previous year. It
breached the upper limit of the target range of
3.0 to 6.0 per cent. On average, the CPIX
increased by 6.5 per cent in the review year
compared to 4.6 per cent realised during 2006.
It was recorded higher at 8.6 per cent in
December 2007 compared to 5.0 per cent dur-
ing the same period in 2006. The high inflation
rate was attributable to, among others, high
crude oil prices, strong increases in food
prices, increases in administered prices, and
higher consumer spending in the economy.

On average, producer price inflation (PPI)
increased by an annual rate of 9.2 per cent dur-
ing 2007 compared to 7.7 per cent in 2006. It
closed the year at 9.1 per cent in 2007 com-
pared with 9.3 per cent recorded in 2006.

The inflation trend influenced the South African
Reserve Bankʼs (SARB) Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC) to increase the key interest
rate by 200 basis points during the year. Thus
the repo rate closed the year at 11.0 per cent
compared to 9.0 per cent at the end of 2006.

The upward pressure on prices led to increas-
ing inflation rates in Lesotho and the decelera-

Table 2

SELECTED ECONOMIC INDICATORS, 2002 – 2007*
(Percentage changes unless otherwise stated)

Indicators

World Output

Advanced Economies

Other Emerging Markets and

Developing Countries

Africa

Central and Eastern Europe

Commonwealth of

Independent states

Developing Asia

Middle East and Europe

Western Hemisphere

Consumer Prices

Advanced Economies

Other emerging market and

Developing Countries

World Trade Volume

(Goods and Services)

Imports

Advanced Economies

Other emerging market and

Developing Countries

Exports

Advanced Economies

Other emerging market and

Developing Countries

2003

4.0

1.9

6.5

4.6

4.6

7.9

8.1

6.5

2.2

1.8

6.0

5.4

4.1

11.1

3.1

10.8

2004

5.3

3.2

7.7

5.5

6.5

8.4

8.8

5.5

5.7

2.0

5.6

10.6

9.1

16.4

8.8

14.6

2005

4.8

2.5

7.5

5.6

5.6

6.6

9.2

5.4

4.6

2.3

5.2

7.5

6.1

12.1

5.8

11.1

2006

5.4

2.9

8.1

5.6

6.3

7.7

9.8

5.6

5.5

2.3

5.1

9.2

7.4

14.9

8.2

11.0

2007*

5.2

2.5

8.1

5.7

5.8

7.8

9.8

5.9

5.0

2.1

5.9

6.6

4.3

12.5

5.4

9.2

Source: IMF World Economic Outlook October 2007.
Globalization and Inequality.
* IMF Projections
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tion in SA economic growth rate could lead to a
slowdown in Lesothoʼs exports destined to SA.
2.4 Commodity Price Developments

2.4.1 Gold Prices

The price of gold has maintained an upward
trend in recent years. It increased by 15.3 per
cent from an annual average of US$604.65 an
ounce in 2006 to US$697.08 an ounce. In the
review year, the minimum and maximum price
levels were recorded at US$607.4 and
US$840.50, respectively, compared to the min-
imum and maximum price levels of US$516.88
and US$714.80 an ounce, respectively, during
2006. The surge in the price of gold was main-
ly influenced by high demand by European
investors as the metal became cheaper due to
the depreciation of the US Dollar against major
currencies. In Rand terms, the annual average
price increased from R4,099.82 per ounce in
2006 to R4,618.82 per ounce in 2007, increas-
ing profitability of the SA mining sector as well
as employment levels and remittances of
Lesotho migrant mine workers.

2.4.2 Oil Prices

The oil market was characterised by dramati-
cally high prices during the year under review.
In 2007, the minimum and maximum price lev-
els of crude oil were recorded at US$52.8 and
US$91.91 per barrel, respectively, compared to
US$53.37 and US$72.64 per barrel, respec-
tively, in 2006. It closed the year at US$90.82
per barrel compared to US$56.0 per barrel at
the end of 2006. On average, it registered
US$69.21 per barrel in 2007 compared to
US$61.19 in 2006.

The increase in international oil prices resulted
largely from high global demand, mounting
geopolitical concerns in Nigeria and Middle
East and supply restrictions by the
Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting
Countries (OPEC). The upward pressure also
stemmed from tight US fuel supplies amid a
series of US refinery interruptions, hurricane-

related concerns and large declines in US
crude oil inventories.

On average, the Loti price of crude oil
increased by 10.5 per cent from M414.92 per
barrel in 2006 to M458.58 at the end of 2007. In
line with global developments, there were sev-
eral upward revisions of prices of fuel in the
country during the review year. Prices of oil
products in Lesotho closed the review year
higher at M7.05 per litre of petrol, M7.95 per
litre of diesel and M5.70 per litre of illuminating
paraffin. These compare with M5.65 per litre of
petrol, M6.30 per litre of diesel and M4.25 per
litre of illuminating paraffin at the end of 2006.

The continued increase in the international oil
prices exerts pressure on inflation, the cost of
production and therefore lower profitability and
employment level.

2.5 Lesotho in the Context of
Regional Economic Integration

Lesothoʼs strong commitment to economic
cooperation continued throughout 2007 with
active participation in activities of regional eco-
nomic groupings such as the Southern African
Customs Union (SACU)9, Southern African
Development Community (SADC)10 and the
Common Monetary Area (CMA)11 , amongst
others.

During the review year, SACU continued to
negotiate various free trade agreements (FTA)
with major trading blocs and countries outside
its borders, and in particular, it participated in
the Doha Development Agenda negotiations.
The negotiations were intended to address an
imbalance against the developing countries

9 SACU comprises: Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia,
South Africa and Swaziland.

10 SADC: Angola, Botswana, Democratic Republic of Congo,
Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique,
Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zamibia
and Zimbabwe.

11 CMA comprises: Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa
and Swaziland.

Central Bank of Lesotho
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adversely affect the fiscal and BOP positions
which rely heavily on this revenue source.

agreement will apply initially to the EU side and
to Botswana, Lesotho, Swaziland and
Mozambique on the SADC side. Angola con-
veyed its interest to join as soon as possible.
South Africa and Namibia expressed interest
for possible future participation. The agreement
is open for participation of other parties in the
region. The negotiations towards a full EPA are
expected to be concluded in 2008.

A broader economic integration is expected to
have positive implications for the economy of
Lesotho. Firstly, it could lead to increased
access of Lesothoʼs products in international
markets, which is in line with the on-going
Governmentʼs initiative for local firms to diversi-
fy their markets in terms of exporting to a vari-
ety of countries and regions. Diversification of
markets is also envisaged to reduce Lesothoʼs
dependence on SA. Secondly, a broader eco-
nomic integration could also attract more for-
eign direct investment (FDI) into the country.
Consequently this could lead to higher employ-
ment prospects in the country and hence
poverty reduction. Thirdly, Lesothoʼs export
earnings could increase and hence lead to the
improvement in the Balance of Payments
(BOP) position.

On the negative side, reduction in tariffs is like-
ly to reduce customs revenue pool and hence

2007 Annual Report

12 In English: Southern Common Market comprises –
Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay.

that existed in the world trade system. The pur-
pose of the meeting, held in Potsdam
(Germany) in June 2007, was to set the foun-
dation for what could have become a major
breakthrough in the Doha Development
Agenda. Furthermore, the negotiations intend-
ed to reduce the trade barriers between mem-
ber states and liberalise trade and investment
rules. Negotiations were suspended due to dis-
agreements over opening up agricultural and
industrial markets in various countries.

SACUʼs agenda focused on a number of trade
negotiations in 2007. These include, the
resumption of the Doha Round negotiations,
the SADC Economic Partnership Agreement
(EPA) negotiations with the European Union
(EU); ongoing SACU negotiations to finalise a
preferential Trade Agreement (PTA) between
SACU and the European Free Trade
Association (EFTA); discussions with the US on
a possible Trade, Investment and Development
Cooperation Agreement (TIDCA); and the
envisaged trade negotiations with India and
SACUʼs trade liberalisation commitments under
the SADC Trade Protocol.

In June 2007, a trilateral agreement between
India, Mercado Comun del Sur (Mercosur)12

and SACU was declared to be under consider-
ation. This was intended to widen the scope of
South-South Cooperation. Therefore the
agreement is expected to promote trade and
economic cooperation between India,
Mercosur and SACU members. This PTA will
come into force once it is ratified by Brazil and
Argentina.

Progress was also made with regard to SADC
activities. In November 2007 the European
Commission (EC) and the SADC initialised an
interim Economic Partnership Agreement
(EPA) including a WTO-compatible market
access schedule and provisions on develop-
ment co-operation and other issues. This
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13 2007 Food Agricultural Organisation (FAO)/World Food
Program (WFP) Crop and Food Supply Assessment Mission
to Lesotho Report.

14 See Box 2.

PART III DOMESTIC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

3.1 Real Sector Developments

3.1.1 Trends in Output and Income

The performance of the domestic economy
slowed down in 2007 as a result of a fall in per-
formance of the primary sector. Real GDP
growth was estimated at 5.1 per cent in 2007,
compared to 7.2 per cent in 2006.

The performance of the primary sector
declined because of a spell of drought that
resulted in a 40.013 per cent fall in grain pro-
duction for the harvesting period 2006/200714.
The fall resulted in food shortage in the country
and necessitated intervention and mitigating
factors to be introduced by Government. In the
planting season 2007/2008, the Government
implemented two famine relief programs,
namely food subsidy equivalent to M10.0 mil-
lion in selected food items used by poorer
households and an input subsidy with 385
tonnes of seed disbursed to farmers. It is
expected that the situation will be reversed
given these remedial measures.

Real Gross National Income (GNI) was esti-
mated to have grown from 3.1 per cent in 2006
to 4.9 per cent in 2007. The increase is consis-
tent with increases in minersʼ remittances
which benefited from better than expected gold
prices in the international market. Minersʼ
remittances increased by 27.7 per cent in 2007
compared to 22.8 per cent in 2006. GNI per
capita also reaffirmed a positive growth to 4.0
per cent in 2007 from 3.1 per cent in 2006.

3.1.2 Sectoral Performances

(a) Developments in the Primary Sector

Growth in the primary sector declined by 1.6
per cent in 2007 contrary to an increase of 12.3
per cent in the previous year, mainly as a result
of a 40.0 per cent fall in the performance of the
crops sub-sector. The latter overshadowed an
increase in mining and quarrying which
increased by 37.5 per cent in 2007, from 38.9
per cent in the previous year.

The FAO/WFP crop and food supply assess-
ment for 2007 indicated that the average yield
in maize, sorghum and wheat was 0.43, 0.42,
0.52 tonnes per hectare respectively for
2006/2007 cropping season. The yield amount-
ed to a decrease of 42.0 per cent, 25.0 per cent
and 4.0 per cent for maize, sorghum and wheat
respectively. The estimated yield for 2007 rep-
resented a shortfall of 42.0 per cent from the
previous year and an estimated shortfall of 40.0
percent for a five year average.

The increase in the performance of the mining
and quarrying sub-sector was driven largely by
growth in the diamond mining industry, which
benefited from additional investment, hence
efficiency gains. The industry also benefited
from a favourable outlook on the price of pre-

Table 3

AGGREGATE ECONOMIC INDICATORS
(Percentage Change, 1995 = 100)

Constant 1995 Prices

GDP

GNI

GDP Per Capita

GNI Per Capita

2003

2.7

5.4

2.6

4.9

2004

4.2

7.9

4.1

7.8

2005

2.9

5.5

2.8

5.4

2006

7.2

3.1

7.1

3.0

2007*

5.1

4.9

4.0

4.0

Source: Bureau of Statistics
* CBL Projections
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per cent in 2007 as a result of a lag in the
implementation of infrastructure related to rural
electrification project and supply of water to
Maseru peripheral areas and other urban cen-
tres across the country. The projects are
rescheduled to start at the beginning of 2008.

(c) Developments in the Tertiary Sector

The sector slowed down from 6.6 per cent in
2006 to 6.3 per cent in 2007. This was under-
pinned by a deceleration of 6.5 per cent in
2007 from 8.9 per cent in the previous year in
wholesale and retail trade sub-sector driven by
sluggish consumer demand in the second half
of the year as interest rates increased. It is
however expected that inflation will subside
and drag with it interest rates.

Another deceleration was realised in restau-
rants and hotels sub-sector which is used as
an indicator of tourism activities in the country.
The sub-sector rose by 8.0 per cent from 8.7
per cent in the review period. However, the cur-
rent efforts to transform tourism as a growth
anchor are likely to improve the performance of
the sub-sector.

Financial intermediation also experienced
lower growth during the year as it recorded
14.5 per cent in 2006 compared with 12.0 per
cent in 2007.

Figure 1: Sectoral Real Growth Rates (1995=100)
25.0

15.0

10.0

Source: Bureau of Statistics
* CBL Projections

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007*

5.0

Primary sector Secondary sector Tertiary sector

0.0

-5.0
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cious stones in the international market. In
addition to the currently two fully operational
mines, four other mines are at prospecting
stage.

2007 Annual Report

(b) Developments in the Secondary Sector

The secondary sector, constituting manufactur-
ing, electricity and water and building construc-
tion, recorded a growth of 7.9 per cent in the
review period from 6.9 per cent in the previous
year.

This growth resulted from increased invest-
ments in the manufacturing and construction
sub-sectors, while electricity and water experi-
enced a slower growth during the period. The
performance of the manufacturing sub-sector
increased from 10.5 per cent to 11.0 per cent in
the review period. Most factories, in particular,
textiles and clothing operated at near full
capacity especially in the first half of the year.
The situation slightly deteriorated in the second
half of the year due to weakening international
demand, particularly from the US.

The construction sub-sector increased from 0.6
per cent in 2006 to 3.5 per cent in 2007 as
Government is currently implementing infra-
structure related projects in schools, roads, and
water.

The sub-category of electricity and water
slowed down from 11.2 per cent in 2006 to 8.7

Figure 2: Sectoral Shares in GDP
at Factor Cost (In Percentages)
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3.1.3 Savings and Investment

The Saving-Investment gap as a share of GNI
was recorded at 9.6 per cent. Gross national
savings alone was estimated at 36.6 per cent of
GNI in 2007 compared with 29.7 per cent of
GNI in 2006. Total investment was registered at
33.8 per cent of GNI in 2007 from 32.7 per cent
of GNI in 2006. This is consistent with the sur-
plus recorded in the current account.

The increase in savings was mainly driven by
private sector savings which grew to 16.6 per
cent of GNI compared with 14.6 per cent in
2006, consistent with private sector activity as
proxied by increases in private sector credit.
Government savings declined to 12.3 per cent
of GNI in the review period from 15.0 per cent
in 2006. Investment was driven by a higher
government investment, while private sector-
related investment slowed down to 19.0 per
cent of GNI during the year. Government capi-
tal expenditure is consistent with current gov-
ernment commitments as outlined in the 2007
budget speech. The commitments are mainly

Central Bank of Lesotho

Figure 3: Savings and Investment
(As a percentage of GNI)
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on roads, health centres and water-related
infrastructure.

Saving as a ratio of Gross National Disposable
Income (GNDI) was estimated at 27.7 per cent
in the review year compared with 24.4 per cent
recorded in 2006 following an increase in net
current transfers, particularly SACU revenue.

CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009:CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009  5/5/09  2:08 PM  Page 27



14Central Bank of Lesotho

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO

2007 Annual Report

BOX 2: Effects of Drought on the Domestic Economy

Lesotho experienced drought and food shortages during the period 2002 to 2004. In July
2002 the UN launched a consolidated appeal for vital food and non-food aid for Lesotho,
Malawi, Mozambique, Swaziland, Zambia and Zimbabwe. A second consolidated appeal
was launched in July 2003 and followed by a declaration of a state of emergency by the
Government of Lesotho in February 2004.

The 2007 FAO/WPF crop and food supply assessment report highlighted a decrease in the
average yield per hectare of maize and sorghum for the 2006/07 cropping season by 42.0
per cent and 25.0 per cent respectively. Area planted also fell by 15.0 per cent for maize and
20.0 per cent for sorghum.

An immediate economic implication of this development is that an estimated 401 200 peo-
ple will experience a food deficit for the marketing year 2007/2008. The majority of people,
more than 45.0 per cent in every district are dependant on casual labour to earn their living,
while at least 30.0 per cent are depended on both food assistance and casual labour. This
implies a high food insecurity situation given the high dependence on food assistance and
unreliable casual labour income.

It is estimated that the primary sector constitutes about 17.0 per cent of national output, and
it services more than 70.0 per cent of the population. Therefore its performance directly
affects livelihoods. Growth in the primary sector which constitutes agriculture declined by
1.6 per cent in 2007, reflecting a 40.0 per cent decline in crops.

Lesotho - National Cereals Supply-Demand Balance,
April 2007 - March 2008 (in ʻ000 tonnes)

Maize Wheat Sorghum Rice Total

Domestic Availability 64 27 11 0 102
Opening stocks 13 17 0 0 30
Production 51 10 11 0 72
Total Utilization 238 92 16 13 359
Food use 226 85 15 13 339
Other use (PH losses,
seed, feed) 3 0 1 0 4
Closing stocks 9 7 0 0 16
Import Requirement 174 64 5 13 256
Anticipated Commercial
Imports 142 64 0 13 219
Confirmed Food Aid 7 0 0 0 7
Uncovered Deficit 25 0 5 0 30

Source: FAO/WFP 2007
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Figure 4: Average Number of Basotho
Mineworkers in SA
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The table above indicates total cereal need
estimated at 256 000 tonnes for the covered
period. However, assistance from development
partners is likely to improve the situation.

3.2 Employment, Wages and Prices

3.2.1 Employment

Employment in LNDC-assisted15 companies
increased by 10.2 per cent in the review year to
48 710 employees, underpinned by buoyant
performance of the manufacturing sector, in
particular textile and clothing. Most firms oper-
ated at near full capacity with sales and orders
covering a longer horizon. However, some
firms closed during the year resulting in a loss
of about 4.0 per cent of jobs.

On the other hand, employment in Government
increased by 4.1 per cent to 40 649 at the end
of the review period owing to a continuous
increase in teachers consistent with enrolment
of free primary school graduates into second-
ary education. Employment of civil servants in
general increased due to expansion to accom-
modate local government structures.

The number of migrant mineworkers increased
by 1.2 per cent to 53 467 employees due to
favourable performance of the gold and plat-
inum mines as commodity prices continued to
increase worldwide.

3.2.2 Wages

The general minimum wage increased by 10.0
per cent during the review year from the previ-
ous period. Other sectors such as manufactur-
ing, construction, wholesale, retail sector, hos-
pitality, transport, small business and domestic
workers increased their minimum wages in
varying degrees ranging from 3.9 per cent to
10.0 per cent based on their respective per-
formance.

Government introduced a tax relief programme
for low income earners, by revising the thresh-
old of taxable income from M11 643 to M14
000, resulting in 20.0 per cent gain. In addition,
government employees benefited from an
across-the-board salary increase of 10.0 per
cent.

3.2.3 Price Developments

The annual rate of inflation increased to 7.9 per
cent in the review period from 6.0 per cent in
the previous year, mainly driven by high prices
of fuel and food. The latter resulted from
increasing cereal prices as a result of increas-
ing use of maize in bio-fuels production and the
prevailing drought in the region. The petrol
pump price increased by 16.5 per cent, diesel
by 6.6 per cent, and illuminating paraffin by
10.0 per cent between January and December
2007. Because of the high weight of food in the
Lesotho CPI basket, food prices tend to influ-
ence the overall CPI more that oil prices.

Inflation is expected to gradually moderate in
the following year, with anticipation of better
harvests, and stabilisation of the price of crude
oil.

15 LNDC-assisted companies include textiles and clothing:
leather and footwear, retail, sandstone and hotels.
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Figure 6: Reserves in Months of Imports

Table 4

SUMMARY OF BALANCE OF PAYMENTS
(As a percentage of GDP)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007*
Current Account -13.6 -5.7 -7.0 4.4 11.9
Capital and
Financial Account 11.8 7.2 4.4 0.8 7.1

*Preliminary estimates
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3.3 Balance of Payments (BOP)

3.3.1 Overall Balance

The external sector position continued to show
improvements in 2007 as evidenced by the
overall balance that recorded a surplus equiva-
lent to M1.9 billion during the review period
compared with M1.3 billion registered in the
previous year. The BOP surplus indicates that
earnings from economic transactions between
Lesotho residents and the rest of the world dur-
ing the year exceeded the payments. This
implies that country is currently building up for-
eign reserves. The build-up in the foreign
reserves is important for Lesotho as they serve
to underwrite the fixed exchange rate regime
between the Rand and the Loti, and for financ-
ing shortages that may emerge. Thus reserves
enhance the investorʼs perception about the
country.

The overall balance excluding the effects of
currency fluctuations, transaction balance,
improved from M932.1 million recorded in 2006
to M1.9 billion registered in 2007, due to posi-
tive developments in the current account bal-
ance. The current account balance improved
as a result of an increase in the current trans-
fers emanating from a rise in non-duty SACU
receipts. The capital and financial account also
continued to register net inflow at the back of
receipt of grants coupled with increases in for-

eign direct investment.

Gross official reserves increased from M4.9 bil-
lion recorded in 2006 to M6.8 billion in 2007. In
months of import cover, foreign reserves rose
to 7.8 months in the review period from 6.7
months recorded in the previous year.

9

8

3.3.2 Current Account

As a percentage of GDP, the current account
registered a surplus equivalent to 11.9 per cent
during the review period compared with a sur-
plus of 4.4 per cent observed in the previous
year. This position was mainly driven by SACU
non duty receipts which rose significantly by
73.4 per cent in 2007. In addition, the positive
developments in merchandise exports and
labour income also contributed to the surplus.
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3.3.3 Income and Trade in Goods
and Services

Merchandise exports, in nominal terms, were
projected to have strengthened significantly in
2007. The value of exports was estimated to
increase by 23.8 per cent in the review period
compared with 14.5 per cent rise in the previ-
ous year. As a share of GDP, exports registered
51.6 per cent in 2007, following 46.8 per cent
observed in 2006. The growth in exports was
influenced by diamond exports which rose sig-
nificantly by 83.9 per cent, due to increased
diamond production. As a share of total
exports, the value of diamond exports was
recorded at 19.5 per cent during the period
compared with 10.4 per cent recorded in the
previous year. Although global demand during
the year was uncertain, the US economy where
the bulk of Lesotho exports are destined,
remained relatively strong for most part of the
year.

The nominal value of merchandise imports was
estimated to increase by 26.3 per cent in the
review period compared with a rise of 11.3 per
cent registered in the previous year. Expressed
as percentage of GDP, imports were recorded
at 102.9 per cent in 2007, following 91.5 per
cent observed in 2006. The performance of
imports to a large extent reflected the improved
private sector activity and increased spending
by Government.

The services account registered a net payment
of M231.9 million in 2007 from M238.9 million
in 2006 due to an increase in travel earnings
which overshadowed an increase in travel pay-
ments. Travel earnings rose by 65.5 per cent
compared with a decline of 1.4 per cent in the
previous period. Water royalties also recorded
an increase.

Net income registered a slower growth of 10.5
per cent during the year under review com-
pared with a rise of 33.2 per cent observed in
the previous year. The deterioration of net
income resulted from high payments of interest

on official loans. In addition, net investment
income declined from M236.9 million in 2006 to
M39.4 million in 2007. However, earnings on
central and commercial banks foreign assets
increased due to relatively higher regional inter-
est rates and increased stock of foreign assets.
The central bank foreign assets were influ-
enced by the healthy government budget out-
turn.

3.3.4 Capital and Financial Account

The capital and financial account improved to
net inflow of M811.7 million in 2007 compared
to that of M85.5 million in 2006. As a share of
GDP, net inflows were 7.1 per cent compared
with 0.8 per cent registered in the previous peri-
od. Capital transfers which includes grants in
government budget increased to M206.5 mil-
lion in 2007 from M75.5 million recorded in the
previous period. The performance of the grants
in budgets is indicative of improved implemen-
tation of projects by government.

The financial account recorded a net inflow
equivalent to M605.2 million compared with
M10.0 million in 2006. This improvement result-
ed from a rise in foreign direct investment in
manufacturing and mining industries. This was
also due to a fall in outflows of ʻother invest-
mentsʼ category as a result of a decline in com-
mercial banksʼ foreign assets. Furthermore,
official loans showed an inflow of M48.4 million
compared with outflow of M84.3 million regis-
tered in the previous year.

3.3.5 Foreign Exchange Rates

The Loti which is pegged at par to SA Rand
strengthened against the US dollar in the
review period. On average, the Loti appreciat-
ed by 2.3 per cent in 2007. This was influenced
by among others, the weakness of the US
Dollar due to a slowdown of the US economy.
Furthermore, an increase in SA interest rates
added to the attractiveness of the Rand-
denominated assets and therefore led to a
higher portfolio investment inflows into the SA
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market. Appreciation of the Rand was also sup-
ported by high commodity prices, particularly
gold and platinum, during the period. However,
the currency depreciated by 1.6 per cent, 0.1
per cent and 0.1 per cent, against Pound
Sterling, Euro and Special Drawing Rights
(SDR), respectively.

3.4 Money and Banking

3.4.1 Money Supply

At 18.5 per cent in 2007, growth in money sup-
ply was significantly lower than the preceding
yearʼs increase of 35.4 per cent. In real terms,
the slowdown in money growth was more pro-
nounced in 2007 due to increased inflation rate,
registering 7.9 per cent. In 2006, real monetary
growth was estimated at 29.0 per cent. This
deceleration was driven by lower growth in net
foreign assets of the banking system of 36.2
per cent relative to 46.0 per cent registered in
2006. Total domestic credit remained on the
downward trend during the review period, but
declined at a slower rate compared to the pre-
vious year. It fell more than three-fold in the
review period against an approximate six-fold
plunge in 2006.

The rise in money supply reflected growth in its
major components, narrow money (M1) and
quasi money. Narrow money grew by 14.0 per
cent, which reflected a 9.7 per cent increase in
currency in the hands of the public and a 14.6
per cent rise in demand and call deposits.
Deposits of official entities held with the central
bank declined by 21.2 per cent during the same
period, partially dampening the effect of curren-
cy in circulation and demand deposits on M1.
Quasi money grew by 33.0 per cent in 2007,
higher than the 7.7 per cent increase realised a
year earlier. A significant 70.0 per cent rise in
time deposits undermined the effect of a slight
decline in saving deposits on quasi money.

3.4.2 Domestic Credit

As mentioned in 3.4.1, total credit continued to
decline in 2007, although at a slower rate. The
significant decline reflected the strong build-up
of government deposits with the banking sys-
tem, which more than offset increases in credit
to the private sector and official entities.
Significant revenue growth and prudent expen-
diture management continued to result in gov-
ernment budgetary surpluses, which in turn
increased the net creditor position of
Government with the domestic banking system.

Credit to the private sector and statutory bod-
ies, excluding non-performing loans, rose by
40.8 per cent in 2007 against 13.3 per cent in
the preceding year. The improvement was influ-
enced by a rebound in credit to statutory bod-
ies, which nearly doubled in 2007 compared to
a 47.9 per cent fall in 2006. As a percentage of
total credit, credit to statutory bodies accounts
for only 3.0 per cent. Credit to the private sec-
tor accelerated to 37.4 per cent in the review
period following a rise of 16.3 per cent realised
at end of 2006. The robust growth in 2007 was
despite increasing interest rates in the domes-
tic economy, which implies strong economic
fundamentals and private sector confidence.

3.4.3 Net Foreign Assets

The net foreign assets of the banking system
rose by 36.2 per cent in 2007, following a 46.0
per cent growth recorded at the end of 2006.
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Figure 7: Real Money Supply Growth
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End of Period)

35.0

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

30.0
25.0
20.0
15.0
10.0

5.0
0.0

-5.0

CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009:CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009  5/5/09  2:08 PM  Page 32



19 2007 Annual Report

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO

16 Liquidity is measured by the ratio of commercial banksʼ notes
and coins holdings, balances with banks in Lesotho and
abroad, their clearing balances held with the CBL plus their
short-term securities to their total deposit liabilities and other
borrowings. The ratio measures banksʼ ability to adequately
honour customersʼ withdrawals.
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Both net foreign assets held by commercial
banks and the central bank increased, register-
ing growths of 24.1 and 41.1 per cent respec-
tively (see Table 5).

The slower growth in CBL net foreign assets in
the review year was influenced partly by a 9.5
per cent revaluation loss as the currency
appreciated against major currencies, com-
pared to a strong revaluation gain realised in
2006. External reserves of the banking system
continued to grow despite the negative effect of
exchange rate movements due to strong SACU
non-duty receipts, net exports, labour income
(mainly comprising minersʼ remittances);
increased grants to government and higher for-
eign direct investment. Prudent government
financial management during the period led to
realisation of a fiscal surplus, as well as the
build-up of external reserves in the banking
system.

The growth in external assets of the banking
system is a welcome development. It raises
confidence in the countryʼs ability to absorb for-
eign currency shocks that may occur and also
acts as a buffer against any deterioration in the
foreign currency earning capacity of the coun-
try. Lastly, strong foreign reserves keep the
Rand-Loti peg intact.

Table 5

BANKING SYSTEM'S NET FOREIGN ASSETS
(Million Maloti: End of period)

Commercial banks

Assets

Liabilities

Central Bank

Assets

Liabilities

Net Foreign Assets

2003

607.7

837.3

-229.6

2853.1

3341.1

-488.0

3460.8

2004

1117.9

1253.8

-135.9

2854.5

3351.5

-497.0

3972.4

2005

1135.0

1241.8

-106.9

3076.2

3625.6

-549.3

4211.2

2006

1772.4

1845.4

-72.9

4377.2

4918.7

-541.5

6149.7

2007

2200.3

2273.7

-73.4

6177.3

6786.3

-609.0

8377.6

Foreign liabilities of commercial banks have
been declining in recent years while foreign
assets continue to increase. This confirms that
the banks have been sourcing an increasing
portion of their foreign assets from domestic
sources. In addition, it implies that domestic
banks are not borrowing money abroad to
invest in local treasury bills market, possibly
due to yields that are currently lower than those
offered by similar instruments in South Africa.

3.4.4 Commercial Banksʼ Liquidity

Liquidity of commercial banks declined slightly
to 73.6 per cent at the end of 2007 from 74.9
per cent at the end of December 200616. The
decline in the ratio was driven by growth in
deposit and liquid balances from banks abroad,
which overshadowed an increase in liquid
assets. A shift in the holding of liquid assets
was also observed in the review period.
Holding of domestic treasury bills fell in favour
of interbank placements and transfers abroad.

The credit to deposit ratio increased from 26.5
per cent at the end of December 2006 to 30.9
per cent in 2007. The 16.2 per cent improve-
ment was influenced by a stronger (33.7 per
cent) growth in credit relative to deposit growth.
Credit has been growing steadily in the past
years but was overshadowed by a higher
deposits mobilisation rate, leading to subdued
credit deposit ratios. A reversal of this trend in
the review period bodes well for the economy.
It indicates an effort on the side of commercial
banks to extend more credit to the private sec-
tor. If sustained, such a trend would have posi-
tive spin-offs on economic growth, banking sec-
torʼs profitability and public confidence in the
financial sector.

CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009:CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009  5/5/09  2:08 PM  Page 33



20Central Bank of Lesotho

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO

2007 Annual Report

3.4.5 Interest Rates

Interest rates in Lesotho maintained an upward
trend observed in 2006. Continuing inflationary
pressures driven by food and oil prices influ-
enced policy makers in the region to increase
interest rates. This was contrary to interest rate
cuts in the US, which sought to address eco-
nomic slowdown threat.

The average prime lending rates in Lesotho
ended the review year at 15.43 per cent, which
was higher than the 13.50 per cent recorded at
end of 2006. Changes in this rate followed
those in the SA prime lending rate, which rose
from 12.00 per cent in 2006 to 14.50 per cent in
2007. The rise in the SA lending rate tracked a
series of upward adjustments of the repo rate
by the SARB. The divergence in movements of
regional and international interest rates implies
the gap between these interest rates has
widened. This contributed to the appreciation
of currencies in the region against the US
Dollar.

Contrary to the decline observed in 2006, the
Lesotho 91-day treasury bill rate rose by 206
basis points to 8.82 per cent in the review peri-
od. The counterpart South African rate rose by
170 basis points during the same period. This
means that the margin between these two rates
narrowed to 114 basis points compared to 150
basis point margin in 2006. As in the previous
year, the Lesotho treasury bill rate remained
below the South African rate for the whole year
of 2007. This reflected strong demand for
Lesotho securities by domestic investors, main-
ly commercial banks, which use this interest
earning asset to meet prudential limits on liq-
uidity.

The banksʼ deposit rates also increased during
the review period, though at a slower rate. The
one year deposit rate reached a maximum of
8.00 per cent, which was the highest deposit
rate in the economy. At this rate, it was 250
basis points below the end of year inflation rate
of 10.5 per cent. Thus, real deposit rates in the

Box 3: The Millennium
Challenge Account

During the year 2007, the Government of
Lesotho signed a five year grant worth
US$362 million with the United States
Government under the Millennium
Challenge Corporation. The grant intends
to assist Lesotho to unlock its economic
growth potential in order to reduce poverty.
This is based on the notion that economic
growth is crucial for poverty reduction.

The grant will focus on three areas which
are strategic for Lesothoʼs long-term eco-
nomic growth profile. Water, normally
termed Lesothoʼs white gold, is a crucial
input in the countryʼs industrial sector,
which is mainly dominated by the produc-
tion of textiles and garments. These ʻwet
industriesʼ were facing an expansion con-
straint due, mainly to the shortage of water
supply. The industries provide employment
opportunities to a sizable number of
Basotho, being the largest formal domestic
sector employer. In addition, water sector
component will give access to clean water
to both rural and urban households, in turn
improving livelihoods in the country. The
water sector project include the following
activities; construction of Metolong dam
bulk water conveyance system, urban and
rural water network activity, rural water sup-
ply and sanitation activity and wetlands
restoration and conservation activity.

The second component is the health sector
project, which would increase access to life
saving antiretroviral therapy (ART) for resi-
dents suffering from HIV and AIDS. Data on
HIV prevalence shows that Lesotho is the

economy remained negative. The comfortable
rate of deposit mobilization vis-à-vis credit
extension has a dampening effect on deposit
rates.
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3.5 Government Finance

3.5.1 Fiscal Reforms in Recent Years

The government of Lesotho has undertaken a
number of reforms to realise efficiency in public
service delivery. Improvement of financial man-
agement and accountability is one such reform
that is ongoing. To implement this project, the
Government has resolved to adopt Integrated

third highest with 24 per cent prevalence rate. This poses challenges for long-term labour sup-
ply and productivity and hence economic growth. The project would upgrade health infrastruc-
ture and training of health personnel. Specific activities to be implemented include the health
centres, ART clinics, central laboratory, blood transfusion service, National Health Training
College (NHTC), health systems strengthening and medical waste management.

The grant will also assist with private sector development. It is now well accepted that finance
is important for economic growth. The project will improve access to credit by Basotho through
assisting in the establishment of the credit bureau and national identification card system.
Furthermore, the transaction costs would be reduced as the payment and settlement systems
are improved. The other contribution is to improve womenʼs ability to contract legally and
improve land administration in the country. Activities to be implemented under the private sec-
tor development project include the credit Bureau and National Identification card, payments
and settlement systems, land administration reform, civil legal reform activity, and training and
public awareness to support gender equality in economic rights.

The implementation of this grant is expected to increase the construction activities in the coun-
try, through construction of Metolong Dam conveyance system as well as health centres. Thus,
employment opportunities will be generated in the construction sector and supporting services.

Financial Management Information System
(IFMIS) to address problems observed with the
Government of Lesotho Financial Information
System (GOLFIS) which is deemed outdated
and inefficient. The new system is expected to
modernise public financial management in
Lesotho, through automation of a number of
functions and transactions. Problems such as
delays in processing payments and over-
spending could be minimised as the system will

Water Sector
Health Sector
Private Sector
Development
Monitoring and
Evaluation
Program
Management
and Oversight

52%

18%

14%

4%
1%

Breakdown of the Grant
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ensure that only authorised expenditures are
undertaken and payments are made timeously.
Furthermore, through automation, line min-
istries will be able to communicate with
Treasury Department from the time when the
transaction is initiated, throughout the process,
to when payment is made.

Another milestone was decentralisation of pro-
curement procedures, an exercise carried out
in the 2006/07 financial year. Through this ini-
tiative, agents can now engage suppliers who
meet their requisite demands without going
through the old centralised system. This has
potential for minimising time taken by the pub-
lic sector to implement projects and reducing
the apparent bureaucracy. In addition, the
Government observed that putting the systems
in place was not a sufficient condition for
improvement of procurement procedures. As a
result, efforts were undertaken to provide nec-
essary training to relevant officials to address
skills shortage, and build both finance and pro-
curement cadre in order to realise efficiency.

The period also coincided with the time when
the Government was realising consecutive fis-
cal surpluses due to, among others, SACU
windfall revenue. The surpluses have enabled
government to improve social services through
education, health and social welfare.
Government now offers free primary education,
and supports secondary education with book
rentals schemes. It further runs bursary
schemes for orphaned and vulnerable children
(OVCs). In response to these, government
expenditure on education has more than dou-
bled since the year 2000.

Old age pensions were introduced in
November 2004 with approximately 70,000
beneficiaries aged 70 years and above. The
payment was initially set at M150.00 per per-
son per month, and has since been revised to
M200.00. Free primary health care and drugs
were also introduced in December 2007 to
advance health services to the nation at large.
Consequently, there is a need to expand

health-related infrastructure to meet the
increased demand, as did the education sector.
The measures undertaken in public financial
management will facilitate efficiency in pursu-
ing the foregoing reforms.

In addition, the government is running private
sector competitiveness and diversification proj-
ect in partnership with the donor community.

3.5.2 Fiscal performance in 2007/08

The budget outturn for the fiscal year 2007/08
was projected to result in a surplus equivalent
to 10.3 per cent of GDP following 12.4 per cent
realised in 2006/07. This was largely on
account of an increase in SACU and domestic
tax revenue during the year, and a relatively
lower increase in expenditure.

(a) Revenue

Total revenue, including grants, increased by
an estimated 16.6 per cent in 2007/08. This
was largely due to 11.3 per cent increase in tax
revenue following backward adjustments made
on SACU revenue during the year. Income tax
collections were estimated to have improved by
33.3 per cent, driven by the increase in all
income tax components. Personal income tax
grew by 26.6 per cent partly in response to a
10.0 per cent salary increase for civil servants,
that was effected at the beginning of the fiscal
year. Despite a downward adjustment of the
company tax rate effected in the last fiscal year,
collections from this source grew by 74.3 per
cent during the period under review. The other
income tax component, which comprises fringe
benefits and withholding taxes, rose by 5.0 per
cent during the same period. Value Added Tax
(VAT) collections rose by 29.4 per cent, follow-
ing a 1.6 per cent growth observed in the previ-
ous period. This was in response to inflation
developments observed during the year, strong
economic performance and revenue enhance-
ment measures undertaken by Lesotho
Revenue Authority (LRA).
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Non-tax revenue was expected to grow by 39.7
per cent during the period under review. The
increase was supported by a 13.4 per cent rise
in water royalties, together with income from
dividends, diamond royalties and interest on
loans on-lent to semi-autonomous institutions.

The level of capital grants surged more than
two-fold during the period under review. The
funds were expended on provision of infrastruc-
ture in health, education, tourism and public
works.

(b) Expenditure

Total government expenditure was expected to
grow by 22.2 per cent during the year 2007/08
on account of an 18.5 per cent increase in
recurrent spending. Expenditure on goods and
services was estimated to be the main driving
force behind the rise in recurrent spending,
accelerating by 23.2 per cent. In response to
Governmentʼs commitment to expedite service
delivery at both national and local government
levels, employment, particularly at professional
level increased. Accordingly expenditure on
personal emoluments grew by 17.0 per cent.

Total interest payments were expected to
increase by 1.1 per cent during the period
under review on account of domestic interest
payments which more than offset the decline in

interest paid on external debt. The rise in
domestic interest payments largely reflected
the upward trend observed in treasury bill
rates.

Subsidies and transfers rose by 19.4 per cent
during the year. This was mainly driven by sub-
ventions to educational institutions which
embarked on infrastructure investment.
Transfer payments in the form of pensions paid
to elderly people aged 70 years and above, and
support to HIV and AIDS affected people also
contributed to the rise in this expenditure item.
Pensions paid to elderly people were revised
upwards in 2007.

Government continued to fulfil its commitment
pledged on provision of infrastructure. This is
supported by improvements observed in the
implementation of development projects in
which capital expenditure was estimated to
grow by 43.0 per cent during the period under
review. This expenditure financed construction
of roads, schools and health-related infrastruc-
ture. Government-funded projects accounted
for 51.6 per cent of these outlays while loans
and grants funded projects contributed 22.8 per
cent and 25.6 per cent, respectively.

3.5.3 The Overall Budget Balance
and Financing

An overall fiscal surplus equivalent to 10.3 per
cent of GDP was expected during the period
under review. The surplus was expected to
augment government deposits, and cushion
Government budgetary operations.

3.5.4 Recurrent Expenditure by
Functions of Government

Recurrent expenditure was estimated to surge
to M5.2 billion in contrast to M4.4 billion record-
ed in the last financial year. Community and
social services category remained the largest
recipient of recurrent expenditure at 49.3 per
cent. Education sub-sector received the largest
share of this category at 55.2 per cent. This

Figure 8: Sources of Government Revenue

Source: Ministry of Finance and Development
Planning, and CBL estimates

Customs
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share reflected Government commitment to
provision of quality education. Expenditure on
education was directed to infrastructure devel-
opment, bursaries and subventions to institu-
tions of higher learning.

Social security and welfare allocation sur-
passed health sector share, accounting for 23.1
per cent. This was attributable to support to vul-
nerable people, such as the elderly and OVCs.
In response to the HIV and AIDS scourge and
other chronic illnesses, expenditure on the

health sub-sector took the third largest share,
occupying 15.4 per cent. This spending went
towards provision of drugs and preventive
measures in the form of awareness campaigns.

Expenditure on general government services
accounted for 32.9 per cent of total recurrent
expenditure. It comprised the general public
service, public order and safety, and defence.
Expenditure on economic services constituted
8.4 per cent of recurrent spending. Agriculture
was estimated to constitute 45.1 per cent of the
economic services, followed by transport and
communication, as well as mining and industry.

3.6 Public Debt

3.6.1 Overview

Outstanding public debt grew by 3.4 per cent
during 2007 due to a 3.7 per cent growth in
external debt. This was at the back of the over-
all improvement in implementation of govern-
ment projects during the year. External debt
accounted for 87.4 per cent compared with
12.6 per cent for domestic debt.

As a ratio of GDP, public debt stood at 47.2 per
cent, compared with 51.2 per cent recorded in
the previous year. The ratio dropped marginal-
ly on account of good performance of the econ-
omy during the year. Domestic debt was main-
ly issued for monetary policy purposes. It is
noteworthy that total debt to GDP ratio is lower
than the 60 per cent sustainability threshold17

and the debt service ratio of 15.0 per cent.
Including factor income, debt service ratio dete-
riorated from 4.2 per cent in the previous year
to 6.8 per cent, mainly reflecting accelerated
payments made on non-concessional debt dur-
ing the year.

2007 Annual Report

Total Receipts
Revenue

Customs
Grants

Total Expenditure
Recurrent expenditure

Purchases of Goods
& Services

Capital Expenditure
& net Lending

Surplus/Deficit
before grants

Surplus/Deficit
after grants

Government Savings

Financing
Foreign, net
Domestic

Bank
Non-Bank

Table 6

SUMMARY OF BUDGETARY OPERATIONS
(Million Maloti)

2003/04

3594.5
3416.7
1421.6
177.8

3532.2
2906.8

2059.1

625.4

-115.5

62.3

687.7

-25.7
-36.5
104.0

-140.5

2004/05

4361.8
4130.4
2012.4
231.4

3613.5
2919.7

2002.5

693.8

516.9

748.3

1442.1

-63.7
-684.6
-638.7
-45.9

2005/06

4559.9
4476.3
2306.0

83.6

4293.2
3590.9

2378.5

702.3

183.1

266.7

969.0

-282.7
16.0

-102.1
118.1

Revised
2006/07

6431.9
6339.5
3943.2

92.4

5137.9
4363.2

2777.6

774.7

1201.7

1294.1

2068.8

-28.8
-1265.3
-1248.0

-17.2

Projections
2007/08

7498.1
7214.5
4097.7

283.6

6279.3
5171.7

3338.3

1107.7

935.2

1218.8

2326.5

54.2
-1273.0
-1273.3

0.3

Revenue
(excluding Grants)

Customs
(in % of revenue)

Grants
Total Expenditure

Surplus/Deficit
before grants

Surplus/Deficit
after grants

Government Savings

Memorandum item:
GDP in current prices

In per cent of GDP (unless indicated otherwise)

42.6

41.6
2.2

44.0

-1.4
0.8

8.6

8025.9

47.5

48.7
2.7

41.5

5.9
8.6

16.6

8704.0

46.9

51.5
0.9

45.0

1.9
2.8

10.2

9328.9

60.8

62.2
0.9

49.3

11.5
12.4

19.8

10429.5

61.2

56.8
2.4

53.3

7.9
10.3

19.7

11787.1

Source: MoFDP and CBL Projections

17 The Maastricht Rule of Thumb and SADC Convergence
Criteria (use Net Present Value of Debt to GDP).
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Table 7

PUBLIC DEBT INDICATORS FOR END OF YEAR
(Percentages)

Total debt as % of GDP

External debt as % of GDP

Domestic debt as % of GDP

External debt as % of total

Domestic debt as % of total

Concessional as % of
External debt

Debt service ratio(1)

Debt service ratio(2)

2003

71.1

56.4

14.8

79.3

20.7

72.3

3.3

5.8

2004

55.9

48.3

7.6

86.4

13.6

78.5

7.1

11.6

2005

51.4

44.3

7.1

86.2

13.8

83.7

10.3

17.0

2006

51.2

44.6

6.6

87.2

12.8

84.4

4.2

7.0

2007

47.1

41.2

5.9

87.4

12.6

93.6

6.8

10.9

Source: MoFDP
(1) Ratio of debt service to exports of goods and services,

including factor income
(2) Ratio of debt service to exports of goods and non-factor services,

excluding factor income

3.6.2 External Debt

The level of external debt grew by 3.7 per cent
during the period under review, mainly due to
6.4 per cent rise in multilateral loans directed to
provision of infrastructure. Loans from bilateral
creditors and financial institutions dropped by
23.4 and 2.3 per cent, respectively.
Consequently, the share of concessional debt
increased to 93.6 per cent, against 84.4 per
cent in the previous period. As a ratio of GDP,
external debt dropped marginally to 41.2 per
cent.

Multilateral loans accounted for 90.2 per cent of
the external debt portfolio, while loans from
bilateral creditors and financial institutions con-
stituted 6.3 per cent and 2.1 per cent of foreign
debt, respectively. The largest share of debt,
24.7 per cent, went towards financing of ground
transport, followed by education at 17.7 per
cent and energy accounted for 16.4 per cent.

3.6.3 Domestic Debt

Domestic debt increased slightly by 1.4 per
cent during the period under review mainly as a
result of a 31.6 per cent increase in holding of
short-term debt by the non-banking sector.
Short-term debt continued to be issued mainly
for monetary policy operations, while long term
component represented a 10 year bond issued
during restructuring of the financial sector in
1999.
Figure 9: Government Domestic Debt

(Million Maloti)
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PART IV REPORT OF THE BANKʼS OPERATIONS

4.1 Department of Supervision

4.1.1 Supervision of Banks and Non-
Bank Financial Institutions

The year 2007 witnessed a marked improve-
ment in outreach by the banking industry. A
total of three new branches were opened and
seven automated teller machines (ATM) were
installed. Judging by the number of advertise-
ments placed by the major banks, in both the
newspapers and on the radio during the year,
competition for clients is taking off. However,
this has not yet manifested itself in the improve-
ment in the quality of service and the reduction
of bank charges which currently appear to be
on the high side.

For a number of years the promotion of finan-
cial intermediation has been at the forefront of
CBLʼs agenda. The signing of the Compact
between the Millennium Challenge Corporation
(MCC) of the United States of America and the
Government of Lesotho in July 2007 signified a
breakthrough in the resolution of some of the
impediments to effective intermediation.
Among the projects to be financed under the
MCC programme are the automation of the
clearing house; the establishment of a credit
bureau which will facilitate easy access to
financial information of borrowers by banks and
non-bank financial institutions; and the
strengthening of the commercial court. All these
projects are scheduled to take off in 2008.

With the supervision of banks and the insur-
ance industry now firmly in place, attention has
been turned to the development and supervi-
sion of non-bank financial institutions. To this
end, a new division responsible for non-banks
was established within the Supervision
Department during the course of the year. With
the aim of developing the microfinance sub-
sector, technical assistance in the form of fund-
ing and experts has been negotiated under the
Rural Financial Intermediation Programme
(RUFIP) of the International Fund for
Agricultural Development (IFAD); and the

Centrum fur Internationale Migration und
Entwicklung (CIM). It is expected that these
efforts will come to fruition in 2008.

One of the challenges facing CBL as the
Commissioner of Financial Institutions has
been the illegal acceptance of deposits by
some institutions in the country. It became nec-
essary for the Central Bank to obtain an interim
court injunction against two such entities. On
27 November 2007 the Bank made an ex-parte
application to the High Court of Lesotho and
was granted permission to investigate the activ-
ities of those entities including investments
placed by the public with those entities and
what became of those deposits. In these inves-
tigations CBL is assisted by a reputable, inter-
national firm of accountants. CBL is expected
to report its findings back to the High Court of
Lesotho and to seek further direction within
ninety days of the Court Order

One of the two institutions cooperated with the
Bank in its investigations and provided the
required information and documents speedily.
The case against that institution was heard in
the High Court of Lesotho on 13 December
2008. Judgement is expected in February
2008. Some resistance was experienced with
the second entity and this led to delays in the
investigation process. The return date for the
case, which had been set for 13 December
2007, has been postponed to 4 February 2008.
In the meantime the assets of the two institu-
tions remain frozen. This action was taken in
order to protect public deposits.

4.1.2 Supervision of the
Insurance Industry

The Insurance Act no. 18 of 1976 mandates the
CBL to supervise the insurance industry. During
the period under review the industry consisted
of 26 insurance brokers and five insurance
companies. Four insurance brokers applied for
deregistration on claims that the industry was
too competitive for small insurance brokers.
Two insurance brokers were deregistered by

2007 Annual Report
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CBL due to non-compliance with Regulation
19(2) of the Insurance Regulations of 1985
which requires an insurance broker to transmit
the insurance premiums collected from the pol-
icyholders within 60 days of receipt.

On-site inspections of all insurance companies
were conducted in 2007 by CBL through the
Insurance Supervision Division. The main
objectives of the inspections were to determine
the financial condition and soundness of the
insurance companies as well as the compli-
ance with statutory and prudential require-
ments of the Insurance Act no. 18 of 1976 and
itsʼ implementing regulations. One company did
not comply with section 45 of the Insurance
1976 which deals with margin solvency. A direc-
tive in this regard has been requiring the com-
pany to comply on or before 31st March 2008.

In an effort to promote interaction between
insurance companies and the insurance bro-
kers, CBL continued to hold quarterly meetings
with the Chief Executives of both insurance
companies and insurance broking companies.
In these meetings, all issues of concern were
discussed and measures taken whenever pos-
sible to deal with them. During these meetings
a resolution was made to establish association
of insurance brokers which will be used to
police the industry especially with regard to
unlicensed insurance brokers operating in the
insurance industry. The association would also
be responsible to take action against its mem-
bers who contravene the law and are involved
in malpractices in the industry.

4.1.3 Policy and Exchange Control

(a) Exchange Control Regime

The Bank is responsible for the administration
of Exchange Control laws in the country.
During the year, the Ministry of Finance and
Development Planning formally appointed the
as the agent of Government in the administra-
tion of Exchange Control by legal notice no.
190 of 2007. This would make the CBL the cus-

todian of Exchange Control laws and policies.

(b) Applications to Sell Foreign Currencies

Lesotho acceded to the IMF Article VIII in 1997.
By so doing, all the restrictions on current
account transactions were abolished except for
the transactions which still have indicative lim-
its.

During the year under review, forty applications
were submitted by authorised dealers to
Exchange Control for approval. The total
amount transferred was M204,965,221.00. The
payments were in respect of professional serv-
ices, management fees, dividends, royalties,
insurance premiums, etc.

(c) Capital Account Liberalisation

Since the introduction of limited Capital
Account liberalisation in 2003 the number of
people (natural persons) who maintain Foreign
Currency Accounts (FCAs) has been steadily
declining. During 2007 there were only three
holders of such accounts as compared to eight
in 2006.
These accounts are mostly for personal use

and the fact that very little interest is paid by the
banks makes holding such accounts unattrac-
tive to the customers.

Customer Foreign Currency Accounts (CFCs)
increased from thirty-four (34) in 2006 to forty
(40) by the end of 2007. Although there was a
small increase in the number of CFC account
holders, there was a remarkable increase in
amounts held in those accounts. More compa-
nies, including some international organisa-
tions/agencies, held foreign currency balances
in excess of M1,000,000.

Despite the minimal interest paid on these
accounts the main attraction is the hedge
against fluctuations in exchange rates. The
manufacturing companies which constitute the
majority of CFC account holders manage
exchange rates risk through these accounts
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when they make payments for raw materials
and related expenses.

(d) Cross Border Foreign Exchange
Reporting System

The Cross Border Foreign Exchange Reporting
System for the inward and outward foreign
exchange transactions operating within the
Common Monetary Area (CMA) continued to
experience difficulties in relation to one of the
banks. This particular bank encountered a
problem on classification of transactions. On
inspection, the examiners agreed with the bank
on the modalities to solve the problem.

The Reporting system has been found to be a
useful tool by all CMA countries since it reflects
the actual outflows and inflows of transactions
within and outside the CMA.

(e) Anti Money Laundering/Combating
Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT)

Considerable progress was made in the fight
against money laundering and financing of ter-
rorism when the Anti-Money Laundering and
Proceeds of Crime Bill was tabled before par-
liament towards the end of the year. Prior to
the tabling, members of the Anti Money
Laundering Task Team, of which CBL is a
founder member, had highlighted salient points
of the Bill to parliamentarians in a special work-
shop. It is expected that the bill will be passed
into law in the next session of parliament. The
enactment of the Bill will pave the way for the
implementation of institutional framework such
as the Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU). The pri-
mary function of the Unit will be to receive,
analyse and disseminate suspicious financial
information to and from various stakeholders
for their action. Information sharing is central to
the effective curbing of money laundering and
other illicit financial activities.

In an effort to foster and to enhance profound
understanding of money laundering the Bank
invited IMF to deliver an anti-money laundering

workshop which was attended by the whole
spectrum of stakeholders including law
enforcement agencies, institution of higher
learning, accountable institutions and financial
institutions.

The national strategy guiding the Anti-Money
Laundering/Combating Financing of Terrorism
(AML/CFT) was further improved and is await-
ing adoption by Cabinet.

(f) Other Developments

During this period a comprehensive review of
the Manual of Exchange Control Rulings was
also carried out. The banks were provided with
the revised version of the Manual. Apart from
the Ministerʼs formal appointment of the Central
Bank as his agent he also appointed Green
Financial Services as an Authorised Dealer in
Foreign Exchange with Limited Authority.
Green Financial Services is expected to com-
mence operations in early 2008 as the coun-
tryʼs first independent Bureaux de Change.

(g) Regional Meetings

The Eastern and Southern African Anti-Money
Laundering Group (ESAAMLG) has two statu-
tory meetings per annum. The Division attend-
ed both the March and August meetings held in
Arusha, Tanzania and Gaborone, Botswana
respectively. The Government of Lesotho,
through the Ministry of Finance, pays annual
membership subscription which was in 2007
raised from $US20,000 to $US40,000. CBL
and other members attend to participate in
deliberations related to their own sectors. CBL
participates in financial sector issues whereby it
networks and exchanges invaluable informa-
tion with other regulators.

According to the CMA Multilateral Monetary
Agreement, the CMA member countries should
meet annually to discuss the issues of interest
in the administration of the controls in CMA.
During the year under review the Division
attended the three Quarterly Exchange Control
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meetings in Lesotho Namibia and South Africa.
Due to the Strategy workshop held by the Bank
in May the Swaziland meeting was not attend-
ed as it coincided with the workshop.

4.2 Department of Operations

4.2.1 Currency Management

Currency management by the Bank involves,
inter alia, handling of bulk deposits and with-
drawals by commercial banks, sorting of Maloti
notes and coins and the systematic issue of
new and reissuable currency. Since Maloti is
not legal tender in South Africa, an agreement
has been reached with ABSA to collect Maloti
on behalf of CBL to a central location in
Bloemfontein, from where it is repatriated to
CBL.

Whilst the South African currency enjoys legal
tender status in Lesotho, the policy of CBL has
been to promote the use of Maloti currency in
the country and in that regard; local commercial
banks are also expected to issue rand to the
public only in the event of need for rand curren-
cy. The collected rand currency by commercial
banks, through deposits by the public, has to
be deposited with CBL for onward repatriation
to South African Reserve Bank (Bloemfontein
Branch) in accordance with bi-lateral agree-
ment between Lesotho and South Africa.

During the year under review, the bank
received a large consignment of new ban-
knotes in denominations of M10, M20 and
M100. These notes came with additional secu-
rity features to safeguard against counterfeits
and to keep up with current developments in
banknote printing. New supplies of M20 ban-
knotes were immediately put into circulation
due to the high demand of them in the latter half
of the year. It was not possible to determine the
cause of this sudden high demand of M20 ban-
knotes apart from the knowledge that they have
become the preferred denomination by the
public and they are widely used in automated
teller machines (ATMs).

The Bank has also adopted a new Economic
Order Quantity model that entails new
increased levels of stock orders to meet the

Table 8
MALOTI CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION

(Million Maloti: End of Period)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Maloti Notes 226.1 247.8 286.2 366.2 390.1
Issued

Maloti Coins 9.4 9.4 10.0 11.8 13.0I
ssued

Total 235.5 257.2 296.0 378.0 403.1

current and future demands for cash.
The respective values of both banknotes and
coins in circulation for the past five years are
shown in Table 8 above. At the end of 2007,
currency in circulation registered an increase of
6.6 percent over the growth of 27.7 percent in
2006. This increase may be attributed to infla-
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Table 10

MALOTI /RAND REPATRIATION

Value of Maloti Value of Rand
collected from repatriated to
South Africa South Africa

Year Million Percentage Million Percentage
Maloti Change Maloti Change

2004 223.8 17.4 321.4 114.6

2005 227.6 1.7 303.7 -5.5

2006 184.4 -19.0 329.5 8.5

2007 200.6 8.1 407.4 23.6

Table 9
WITHDRAWALS BY COMMERCIAL BANKS

New Notes Reissuable Notes Total Withdrawals

Year Million Percentage Million Percentage Million Percentage
Maloti Change Maloti Change Maloti Change

2004 425.1 771.7 14.0 1,196.8

2005 902.9 112.4 1,042.1 35.0 1,945.0 62.5

2006 343.4 -62.0 1,618.6 55.3 1,962.0 0.9

2007 403.6 17.5 1,823.0 12.6 2,226.6 13.5

tion and increased public demand of money.
Table 9 above shows that both new and reis-
suable notes increased slightly in 2007. Since
the acquisition of BPS 1000 notes processing
machine in 2006, the Bank had been able to
produce more reissuable notes and taken out

unfit notes from circulation.
Over the past four years, the value of Maloti
repatriated from South Africa has fluctuated as
illustrated by table 10. The reporting period
recorded a total of slightly over M 200 million.
On the other hand, Rand currency repatriated
to South Africa rose steadily since 2005. In per-
centage terms, the Maloti collected rose by
only 8.1 percent compared to the 23.6 percent
increase for Rand repatriated in 2007.

4.2.2 National Payment Systems

The Bank is still in pursuance of modernising
the Lesotho National Payment Systems to the
achievement of its Vision 2015. “By 2015
Lesotho will have a widely accessible, secure,
reliable and efficient payment and settlement
system. The system shall facilitate and support
Lesothoʼs development objectives.” Among the
main strategies identified to achieve the vision,
progress was made with the following:

(a) Legal and regulatory framework

• The National Payment Systems Draft Bill: -
Though the National Payment System act is
not yet promulgated Lesotho Wire Rule Book
continues to govern the operations. The draft

Maseru Clearing and Settlement
House (MCSH):-
Efforts are underway to establish Automated
Clearing House (ACH) for small value big
volume payments. The MCSH rules are in
the process to be reviewed to cater for
domestic and gross border payments.
However, with the anticipated ACH, there
shall be a need for participants to review the
current Clearing House rules.

•
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Table 11

PARTICIPANTS’ CREDITS AND DEBITS

Banks Value Volume
(M billion)

Central Bank 3.8 5,024
Participants credits 11.3 1,983
Participants debits 13.5 1,992
Commercial banks 8.5 6,415
Total 37.1 13,422

bill is still with the Law Office.
(b) Performance of Lesotho Wire (LSW)

For the year under review, payment instructions
processed by the real time gross settlement
system amounted to M12.3 billion made up of
11,439 transactions. Of this amount payments
made by commercial banks were M8.5 billion in
value and 6,415 in volume of transactions.

These amounts excluded participant credits18

which amounted to M11.3 billion with 1,983
numbers of transactions. Participant debits19

were 1,992 transactions valued at M13.5 billion

18 Participant Credits are transactions initiated by CBL to
directly credit commercial bank account held at CBL.

19 Participant Debit is transactions initiated by CBL to directly
debit commercial bank account held at CBL.

(see Table 11).
(a) Automated Clearing House

Preparations are at an advanced stage for the
Automated Clearing House (ACH) Project
which is meant to handle small value big vol-
ume payments

The preparations for installation are underway,
though the roll out date for the project funding
will be on the third quarter of the year 2008. The
Implementation of this project is going to be
funded by the MCC. The MCC have involved
itself in ACH implementation aiming that ACH
will alleviate poverty by increasing economic
activity, by facilitating the extension of low cost

financial services to the banked and unbanked
in the country. It is envisaged that the ACH will
use a well established regional service provider
in the effort to cut down costs and to pave the
way for cross border payments.

(b) Oversight Function

The oversight section is within the NPS
Division. The oversight section was established
in 2005 and was manned with Section Head
only. In August 2007, two analysts were recruit-
ed as a way of strengthening the section which
is not yet fully operational and is expected to
commence intensive oversight functions in
2008.

4.2.3 Development Finance

During the year, the Division conducted a study
of guarantee schemes in the region as it is the
intention of the Lesotho Government to estab-
lish a similar scheme. The study has revealed
that in order for the scheme to be sustainable
the following conditions should prevail:

Firstly, there should be an agency relationship
between the Government as a principal and the

The Agent should serve the Principal on the
term of the agreement with all due and prop-
er diligence, observe all reasonableinstruc-
tions given by the Principal as to its best
endeavours to operate efficiently.
The Agent should pass on promptly to the
Principal all information useful for the busi-
ness of the Principal.
The Principal should not directly submit offers
or quotations nor enter into any negotiations
with nor effect any instruction or orders for
the guarantee of any Financial Institution or
to any person in the country under the con-
text of the agreement.

•

•

•

Central Bank as an agent.
Secondly, financing institutions which partici-
pate and are eligible, should meet the following
criteria:
• Be registered banks and non-bank financial
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institutions as per the laws of the country.
• Satisfy the prudential regulations specified by

the laws of the country and shall continue to
satisfy these regulations for the entire period
for which guarantee cover is provided the par-
ticipating institution.

Thirdly, for the individual members of the busi-
ness community who qualify, should be regis-
tered businesses and the majority shareholding
should be with Lesotho citizens. They should
also be ready to offer any enforceable collater-
al including personal guarantee and third party
guarantee. All projects are to be covered by
the scheme as long as they meet the terms
which are laid down in the operational manual
of the scheme.

The study covers a spectrum of issues other
than those mentioned above. These include the
following; durations of the loans, the maximum
loan amount, extent of coverage, instruments,
(that is a method to be used in scoring and
appraisal of the loan applications), collateral,
risk sharing, recovery procedures, claims man-
agement and payout.

Based on the results of this study a proposal for
the implementation of this scheme is being
reviewed and analysed.

4.2.4 Rural Finance

During the year 2007, the CBL conducted work-
shops for all stakeholders across the country
on the operations of Rural Savings and Credit
Scheme (RSCGs) as a tool for strengthening
participation under the scheme. The workshops
covered the Southern Region, Northern
Region, Thaba–Tseka and Mokhotlong while
Maseru and Qachaʼs Nek would be covered in
2008. In addition to the above, sensitisations
campaigns were made throughout Lesotho
together with several enquiries/request for
training from groups and individuals interested
to participate under the scheme. The above
requests were attended to through the assis-
tance of The Ministry of Agriculture and Food

Security (MAFS) together with NGOs engaged
in 2006 to assist groups in several fields of
operation.

In 2007, four group loans were approved under
Credit Guarantee Fund (CGF) from the districts
of Mafeteng, Berea and Leribe, while one
group loan from Maseru was being processed
by December 2007. Upon monitoring groups
financed under CGF by the end of 2007, per-
formance of these groups was satisfactory
recorded at 99% repayment.

An increase in ready groups and active groups
was noted mostly due to the engagement and
commitment of NGOs assigned the duties of
mobilisation, training in business management,
technical aspects and monitoring of groupsʼ
activities. A total of 26 groups were assisted by
NGOs and are at different stages of operation
in Mafeteng, Mohalesʼ Hoek, Maseru, Leribe
and Butha-Buthe districts.

CBL assisted thirteen groups to register and
amend their constitutions in 2007, while sever-
al others are being pursued.
The division further coordinated drafting and

amending groupsʼ constitutions through both
MAFS and NGOs engaged in 2006.

The following milestones were achieved in the
field of rural intermediation during the year

Improved performance of NGOs as evi-
denced by increased number of groups
formed, linked with commercial banks
through saving and accessing commercial
loans.
Improved yields on CGF investments.
Satisfactory repayment of bank loans by
groups with minimal exceptions to qualifica-
tion for repeated loan cycles.
Enthusiasm of rural groups in promoting
income generating activities to the level of
servicing international markets.

•

•

•

CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009:CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009  5/5/09  2:08 PM  Page 46



33 2007 Annual Report

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO

Central Bank of Lesotho

under review:

4.3 Financial Markets Department

4.3.1 Portfolio Management

The CBL continued to manage the countryʼs
foreign exchange reserves in line with The
Investment Policy and Guidelines, with a view
to honour the Bank and the countryʼs obliga-
tions, to preserve the value of the reserves and
finally, to enhance returns on the reserves. In
2007, the portfolio grew by 45 per cent com-
pared to 31 per cent in 2006. The growth was
mainly attributable to a surge in SACU receipts
of 110 per cent in the first quarter and 24 per-
cent in the subsequent quarters of the year.

The Board approved that the Bank should par-
ticipate in the World Bankʼs three years
Reserves Advisory Management Programme
with effect from January 2008. The purpose of
the programme is to enhance the capacity of
staff in the reserves management area and the
return of the investments of the Bank.

A staff member of the Financial Markets
Department responsible for the operations of
the SWIFT system attended the annual region-
al SWIFT conference and meetings in Dakar,
Senegal. The purpose of participating in these
meetings is to obtain first hand information with
respect to the current developments around the
system, and its future direction.

4.3.2 Securities Trading

The CBL continued to conduct auctions of both
91 and 182 day Treasury bills securities. For
the year under review, twelve 91 day Treasury
bill auctions and six 182 day Treasury bill auc-
tions were conducted. A total of 203 and 757
bids were processed in respect of 91 day and
182 day Treasury bills maturities respectively.

The rates in the Lesotho 91 day Treasury bills
market, of which is 85% was held by commer-
cial banks continued to fall below those of the

same market in SA. The margin by which the
rates were higher in SA at the end of 2006 was
1.65 percent and it closed wider at 1.8 percent
at the end of 2007. In the 182 day market, the
rates in Lesotho also remained below those in
SA to close the review period lower by a margin
of 1.05 percent

A study of measures to develop the money and
capital markets in Lesotho was completed dur-
ing the year and the recommendations were
adopted. A phased implementation plan is
scheduled to begin with short term measures in
the Treasury bills market in early 2008. In the
main, the proposed measures to improve the
Treasury bill auction system include the follow-
ing:

• Introduction of longer-dated instruments being
the 273 and 364-day bills,

• Reduction of the auction bid size for
competitive bids from M250,000 to M100,000,

• Introduction of shorter settlement procedures
involving the investors clearing through the
commercial banks as opposed to depositing
funds at the Central Bank.

Two officers responsible for the securities trad-
ing operations attended annual regional meet-
ings of the Committee of Insurance, Securities
and Non-Banking Financial Authorities (CISNA)
in Namibia and Tanzania. The main purpose of
attending these meetings from the Financial
Markets Department side is to participate in the
activities of the sub-committee on capital mar-
kets, as this market is at its developmental
stage in the Lesotho, and experiences can be
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Table 12
91-DAY TREASURY BILL AUCTIONS

3-Jan-07
31-Jan-07
28-Feb-07
4-Apr-07
2-May-07
30-May-07

4-Jul-07
1-Aug-07
29-Aug-07
3-Oct-07
31-Oct-07
28-Nov-07

160
170
170
160
170
170
170
170
160
160
160
150

160
170
170
160
170
170
170
170
160
160
160
150

7.02
7.3

7.46
7.49
7.5

7.56
7.62
7.76
8.12
8.32
8.72
8.82

8.49
8.87
8.41
8.26
8.32
8.68
9.1

8.86
9.3

9.43
9.96

10.62

-1.47
-1.57
-0.95
-0.77
-0.82
-1.12
-1.48
-1.1

-1.18
-1.11
-1.24
-1.8

Auction Date Amount Offered
(Million Maloti)

Amount Issued
(Million Maloti)

Lesotho
Discount

Rate

RSA
Discount

Rate

Spread

13
27
13
10
27
12
16
19
13
19
22
12

203

No of
bids

Table 13
182-DAY TREASURY BILL AUCTIONS

10-Jan-07
7-Mar-07
8-May-07
10-Jul-07
7-Sep-07
8-Nov-07

50
20
50
50
20
30

50
20
30

31.98
20
30

7.3
7.46
7.45
8.8
8.9
8.9

8.58
8.35
8.38
9.42
9.67
9.95

-1.28
-0.89
-0.93
-0.62
-0.77
-1.05

Auction Date Amount Offered
(Million Maloti)

Amount Issued
(Million Maloti)

Lesotho
Discount

Rate

RSA
Discount

Rate

Spread

129
120
142
116
105
145
757

No of
bids
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gained from more developed regional partners.
4.4 Research Department

The primary objective of the CBL is to conduct
monetary policy through the targeting of NIR.
The mandate is conducted through routine
publications namely; Monthly Economic
Reviews, Quarterly Reviews and Annual
Reports. The Research Department is charged
with undertaking all research related activities
of the Bank. The department is divided into
three divisions namely; Macro Analysis, Real
Sector and Finance Divisions. The following
research work was undertaken in the Macro
Analysis; Private Capital Flow 2006 Survey
Report, Interest rates determination in Lesotho,
Resource-led growth in Lesotho, Remittances
and economic development. The division also
coordinated activities related to Monetary
Policy Committee meetings. The Real Sector
Division conducted the following research
papers; Life begins at 40: An overview of
Lesothoʼs economy since independence; A
proxy estimate of rand in circulation in Lesotho,
and in addition participated in the review of the
compilation of national accounts. The Finance
Division conducted the following research
papers; Monetary policy shocks and their
impact on output, International practice on liq-
uidity requirements, The role of fiscal policy in
Lesotho, and Dynamic effects of fiscal policy,
and in addition embarked on migration to
Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual 2000
(MFSM 2000). All divisions participated in the
sitting of the Research and Publications
Technical Committee during 2007.

International and Regional Meetings

The Bank participated in a number of meetings
during the review period. These included par-
ticipation and contribution to CCBG meetings,
first in the first half of the year and later in the
last half of the year. The meetings concentrat-
ed on progress made by SADC member coun-
tries in achieving the macroeconomic conver-
gence benchmarks, which are leading indica-
tors for integration in the region. The other

most important agenda item was the harmoni-
sation of institutional management of central
banks in the region by adopting a framework
for a model central bank. The Bank also partic-
ipated in the IMF and World Bank 2007 annual
meetings which were overshadowed by the
sub-prime default in the US and possible impli-
cations on the global financial architecture. The
problem was particularly paramount in that it
had implications on the slowdown of global
growth as the US economy slows down.

4.5 Department of Administration

4.5.1 Human Resource Management

(a) Schemes of Service Review

During 2007 the Bank started the review of its
Schemes of Service with particular reference to
the review of organisation structures, job analy-
sis & grading structures, job evaluation & band-
ing structure, remuneration strategy and policy,
pay scales and performance management
strategy as well as the overhauling of the Staff
Rules and Regulations to benchmark them
against the best human resource practices
globally.

(b) Strategic Plan

In 2007, the Bank embarked on an extensive
exercise of developing a five- year strategic
plan (2008 -2012). This was the first time the
Bank undertook development of a medium-
term strategic plan. The norm has been to
develop annual work plans based on emerging
priorities and needs. The Bank saw the need to
develop a long-term strategic plan in order to
define the strategic direction that the Central
Bank of Lesotho will take in its quest to improve
its effectiveness and efficiency in fulfilling its
mandate of formulating and implementing the
national monetary policy and providing sound
advice on financial and fiscal policies to the
Government of Lesotho.

The exercise was divided into two major phas-

CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009:CBL Annual Report 05 April 2009  5/5/09  2:08 PM  Page 49



Central Bank of Lesotho 36

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO

es. The first phase involved the following:
a) Review of the vision and mission, and

defining of corporate values of the Central
Bank of Lesotho.

b) Formulation of development goals that the
Bank will pursue in the short, medium
and long terms.

c) Development if a 5-year Corporate Strategic
Plan comprising strategic objectives,
strategies, performance indicators, means of
verification, and important assumptions that

need to be made for the successful
implementation of the Strategic Plan.

d) Review of departmental business plans and
align them with the newly developed
Corporate Strategic plan.

The second phase involved:
e) Development of a Performance Monitoring

and Evaluation framework to assist
monitoring of the implementation of the
Strategic Plan.

f) Development of a Change Management
Strategy that will guide/support
implementation of the Strategic Plan.

(c) Recruitment

Following the filling of two Executive positions
of Governor and Deputy Governor I during the
year, the Bank continued to recruit new staff to
fill both vacant and newly created positions
throughout the year. A total of 20 positions at all
non-executive levels were filled from April to
December this year with the highest number of
eight new members of staff at Professional
level, followed by General Services with five
positions.

By the end of the year, vacancies continued to
exist due to resignations, dismissals, promo-
tions, retirement, and secondment. The recruit-
ment function of the Bank therefore continues
to ensure that positions are filled as vacancies
occur. Appropriately qualified and experienced
Basotho are sourced at all times in order to
enable the Bank to effectively carry out its man-
date.

(d) Training

As the Bank grows, training needs emerge in
respective areas of its operations with the
demand for more qualified staff who could
keep up with the challenges of a growing
organization. Staff training therefore, particu-
larly long-term for acquisition of higher aca-
demic qualifications has increased from seven
in 2006 to twelve in 2007 for full time students.
Seven of these were pursuing post graduate
qualifications including one PhD student.
Twenty four members of staff are pursuing fur-
ther qualifications on part time basis.

(e) Separation

This year a total of eleven members of staff
separated from the Bank during the year from
the levels of Section Head to General
Services. Seven were resignations while the
other four were dismissals. All were permanent
and pensionable. In addition to this, a contract
term of one expatriate came to an end during
the middle of the year.

(f) Staff Welfare Issues

Staff welfare issues continue to take place at
the Bank and appear to be more frequent with
the growth of the Bank. This year twenty two
deaths of next-of-kin of staff were reported and
the necessary procedures followed. Four births
were also reported by staff.

(g) Promotions & Staff Movement

Movement of staff has been another activity
that occurred significantly this year due to
vacancies that existed. This year a total of
eighteen members of staff were promoted
bank-wide and four interdepartmental transfers
took place.

(h) Community Service
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As part of social responsibility, staff of CBL this
year identified the Kananelo Centre for the
Deaf at Ha Buasono in the Berea district as a
place that required intervention. Management
and staff visited the centre taking with them a
wide range of donations for the children at the
Centre.

4.5.2 Safety, Health & Environment
(SHE) Section

This year a new SHE section was moved from
Security Services to be incorporated in Human
Resources Division. Throughout the year the
activities of the section concentrated on compli-
ance to the Labour Code by making efforts to
detect any occupational diseases; conducting
inspections to determine safety issues; con-
ducting environmental survey looking at light-
ing, ergonomics and ventilation with the aim of
taking corrective measures where necessary.

4.5.3 Department of Corporate Affairs

The Board approved establishment of a new
department, Department of Corporate Affairs,
to address structural inadequacies experi-
enced as a result of deployment of legal per-
sonnel in various divisions within the Bank. The
Bank has come to appreciate the need for
streamlining legal services within one domicile,
while at the same time fortifying the services to
enable the Bank to respond to corporate secre-
tarial services, provision of sound legal advice,
public relations functions, adequate represen-
tation before the Courts of Law and other tri-
bunals, as well as performing other functions
provided for within the scope of legal services,
such as compliance and regulations. Functions
of this newly-established department include
drafting of legislation for line Departments
through consultation with the relevant stake-
holders; negotiation of and execution of con-
tract with parties with whom the Bank has busi-
ness relations such as suppliers, consultants
for service, commercial banks, Bank employ-
ees, etc); preparation for and representation of
the Bank in litigation processes in any forum;

responsibility over public relations activities;
and provision of legal advice to management
on matters having a bearing on the rights, priv-
ileges, interests and obligations of the Bank.
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The Central Bank of Lesotho is committed to the principles of transparency, integrity, accountabili-
ty and openness in its dealings with all its stakeholders and subscribes to the Code of Corporate
Practices and Conduct as embodied in the King II Report. The Board Secretariat is of the opinion
that the Bank complies in all material respects with the principles enshrined in the aforementioned
code. The Governor and Board of Directors are committed to ascertaining that compliance with
corporate governance principles remains an integral part of the manner in which the Bank conducts
its business.

The Bank has a unitary Board of Directors which comprises five non-executive directors and three
executive directors. The non-executive directors represent a wide range of skills and have finan-
cial, economic, commercial and legal experience. They are fully aware of their duties to ensure that
the Bank maintains a high standard of corporate governance.

The Board of Directors exercises responsibility for the performance of the affairs of the Bank, and
retains full and effective control over the Bank. It determines strategic direction of the Bank and
monitors executive management in the implementation and execution of its strategies. The Bank
continues to publish Annual Reports, Monthly Economic Review, and Quarterly Economic Review
and Monetary Policy Statements for the benefit of stakeholders and the general public. During the
year 2007, the Board met 10 times to review strategy, operational performance, capital expendi-
ture, internal controls and other material aspects pertaining to the Bankʼs business. The Boardʼs
committees, namely the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee also convened to
deliberate upon matters requiring specialised attention.

All directors of the Bank have had access to the advice and services of the Secretary to the Board,
who is responsible for ensuring that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with.

Mr. M.G. Malope (Adv.)
Secretary to the Board
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The Directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and the prepa-
ration and integrity of the financial statements and related information. The Auditors are responsi-
ble for reporting on the fair presentation of the financial statements. The financial statements pre-
sented on pages 42 - 87 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) in all material respects as applicable to central banks, and in the manner required
by the Central Bank of Lesotho Act, No. 2 of 2000.

The Directors are also responsible for the Bank's systems of internal financial control. These are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial
statements, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of the assets, and to
prevent and detect misstatement and loss. Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to
indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedures and systems
has occurred during the year under review.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the Directors have
every reason to believe that the Bank has adequate resources in place to continue in operation for
the foreseeable future.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 August 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by:

________________________ ________________________
Dr. M.P. Senaoana Mr. J.Q.Lesitha

Governor Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENTAUDITORS TO THE MINISTER OF FINANCE

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of the Central Bank of Lesotho, which com-
prise the directors’ report, the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the income statement, statement of
changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 42 to 87.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Central Bank of Lesotho are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair pres-
entation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable
in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the finan-
cial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Central Bank of Lesotho at 31 December 2007 and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

SHEERAN &ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS (LESOTHO)

DATE: 05 December 2008

SHEERAN
& ASSOCIATES
Chartered accountants (Lesotho)

No 1 Link House
Opposite American
Embassy
Kingsway Road
Maseru Lesotho

Postal Address
Private Bag A420
Maseru 100
Lesotho

Telephone (09266)
22317169
Fax (G3 auto) 22327927
E-mail sheeran@email.co.ls
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The Directors present their annual report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of
the Central Bank of Lesotho, for the year ended 31 December 2007. The financial statements are
expressed in Maloti, the national currency of Lesotho.

Nature of business

The Bank is constituted and governed by the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000 (the Act).
In terms of this Act, the Bank's primary objective is the achievement and maintenance of price sta-
bility.

Financial results

The financial results of the Bank are set out in the income statement on page 45.
The residual profits after a transfer of the foreign exchange currency translation to designated for-
eign currency translation reserves, and after appropriations have been allocated to the general and
other reserves, are paid over to the Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund as dividends in
accordance with Section 21 of the Act.
These appropriations have been fully disclosed in the statement of changes in equity on page 46.

Dividends

Dividends paid to the Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 21 (5) of the
Act are set out in the statement of changes in equity on page 46.

Share capital

There were no changes in the Bank's authorised and issued share capital during the year under
review. The entire issued share capital is held by the Government of Lesotho.

Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Lesotho

Name Date of appointment Position held
Dr M Senaoana April, 2007 Governor and Chairman of the Board
Dr R Matlanyane April, 2007 Deputy Governor I
Mrs P.M.I.S.Ledimo November, 2005 Non-Executive Director
Mrs M G Tau-Thabane July, 2005 Non-Executive Director
Mr E.K.Molemohi July, 2006 Non-Executive Director
Mr J Q Lesitha December, 2005 Non-Executive Director
Dr P M Makhetha1 October, 2004 Non-Executive Director

Secretary
Mr. M.G. Malope (Adv.) October 2007 Secretary to the Board
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Events subsequent to balance sheet date

The Directors are not aware of any material fact or circumstance, which is necessary for
the appreciation of the financial statements, which may have occurred between the end of
the financial year and the date of this report.

Auditors

Sheeran & Associates (Chartered Accountants Lesotho), Assisted by Pricewaterhouse
Coopers Inc. carried out the statutory audit of the Bank.

________________________ ________________________
Dr. M.P. Senaoana Mr. J.Q. Lesitha

Governor Director
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2007

2006
M '000

2 090 684
30 440

415 968
1 978 861

316 413
1 302

218 952
39

1 641
20 446

4 492
177 256

34 500
4 664

5 295 658

377 712
371 779

2 213 342
283 912

33 899
218 952

14 596
79 004
43 442

326 598
13 000

3 976 236

25 000
102 486

1 191 936
1 319 422

5 295 658

Notes

ASSETS
Cash and Balances with Banks 01
Accrued interest due from Banks 02
Treasury Bills 03
Treasury Notes & Bonds 04
IMF Subscription Account 05
IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights 06
IMF Funded PRGF Advances 07
Lesotho Government Securities 08
Deferred Currency Expenditure 09
Claims on Staff 12
Other Assets 13
Property, Plant and Equipment 10
Non-current Assets held for Sale 32
Intangible Asset - Computer Software 34
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Notes and Coins Issued 14
Deposits 15
Lesotho Government Deposits
IMF Maloti Currency Holding 16
IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation 17
IMF - PRGF Facility 18
Income Taxation Liabilities 19
Due to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund 20
Accruals 21
Deferred Tax Liability 11
Non-current Liability held for Sale 32
TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Share Capital 22
General Reserve
Other Reserves
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2007
M '000

2 810 129
39 121

432 569
3 110 027

385 061
43 848

247 145
62

7 438
21 260
3 891

174 796
-

2 245
7 277 592

402 221
412 320

3 927 858
345 509
41 253

247 145
33 280

192 625
52 565

319 303
-

5 974 079

25 000
102 499

1 176 014
1 303 513

7 277 592

The notes on pages 49 - 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2006
M '000

274 093
( 33 308)
240 784

357 754

7 791

606 330

( 81 095)

( 48 161)

( 32 934)

523 623

( 1 612)

522 011

( 150 846)

371 165

113 818
257 347
371 165

Notes

Revenue

Interest Income 23
Interest Expense 24
Net Interest Income
Revaluation Surplus on Foreign
exchange activities

Other Income 25

Total Income

Operating Costs

Personnel Expenses 26

Other Operating Expenses 27

Profit before taxation

Indirect Taxes 33

Profit after indirect taxes

Corporate Taxation 28

Net Profit for the year

Attributed to:

The apportionment to Reserves and the
Consolidated Fund (GOL)
Transfer to Foreign Exchange ReservesBefore forex
adjustment

2007
M '000

450 370
(48 307)
402 063

243 188

30 018

675 269

( 105 253)

( 53 911)

( 51 342)

570 016

-

570 016

( 143 574)

426 442

240 822
185 620
426 442

The notes on pages 49 - 87 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Explanatory notes

The General Reserve has been allocated in terms of Section 21(2)(b) of the Central Bank of
Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000.

Dividends

The residual amounts after transfers to General Reserve are paid as dividends to the Government
of Lesotho's Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 21(5) of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act of
2000.

Road Compensatory Reserve

The Rand Compensatory Reserve represents amounts received by the Bank from the Government
of Lesotho, being the Bank's share of the Rand Compensatory payments received by the
Government, in terms of the Multilateral Monetary Agreement between the Government of Namibia,
Swaziland, Lesotho and the Republic of South Africa. The Government has directed that this
amount be treated as a reserve.

Foreign Exchange Revaluation Reserve Account

In terms of Section 54 of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000, the gains and losses aris-
ing from any changes in the valuation of the Bankʼs assets or liabilities in, or denominated in, gold
or foreign currencies, or Special Drawing Rights as a result of changes in the exchange rate for the
Maloti or of any change in the values, parities or exchange rates of such assets with respect to the
Maloti shall be carried to a special account called the Revaluation Reserve Account. The profits or
losses arising from such change are included in the income statement of the Bank and are then
transferred from distributable reserves to the non-distributable Foreign Revaluation Reserve in
terms of Section 54 of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act No. 2 of 2000.
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2006
M '000

1 056 704
( 41 772)

( 1 612)
19 536

( 60 372)

972 484

( 19 330)
-

( 6 591)
( 730)

676
102

( 366 648)
( 486 636)

( 345)
( 175 360)

(1 054 863)

82 379
82 379

-
-

-

Notes

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash flow from operating activities 29
Taxation paid 19
Indirect taxes paid 34
Rand compensatory receipts
Payment to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund 20

Net cash flow from / (utilised by) operations

Cash flow from investing activities

Additions to property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Additions to intangible asset - Computer software 33
(Increase)/decrease in claims on staff 12
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 13
Net increase in local investments 08
Net decrease/(increase) in treasury bills 03
Net increase in foreign investments 04
Deferred currency expenditure 09
Purchase and disposal of foreign exchange 01

Net cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Notes and coins issued 14
Net cash flow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 02

2007
M '000

2 039 343
( 65 161)

-
22 149

( 127 201)

1 869 130

( 7 646)
56 462
( 367)
( 812)

602
( 22)

( 20 668)
(1 190 757)

( 10 987)
( 719 445)

(1 893 640)

24 510
24 510

-
-

-

The notes on pages 49 - 87 are an integral part of these financial statement.
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The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stat-

ed.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with, and comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Central Bank of Lesotho Act, No. 2 of 2000. The
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under the
historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of financial instruments classified as
available-for-sale, financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss and
derivative instruments. All monetary figures appearing in the financial statements, unless
otherwise indicated, are stated in Maloti.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the report-
ing period. Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of current
events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures (effective 1
January 2007). The amendment to IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of the
Bankʼs capital and how it manages its capital.

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and consequential amendments to IFRS 4
Implementation guidance (effective 1 January 2007). IFRS 7 introduces new requirements
to improve the information on financial instruments that is given in the Bankʼs financial state-
ments. It requires disclosures about the significance of financial instruments for the Bankʼs
financial position and performance. These disclosures incorporate many of the requirements
previously in IAS 32. The IFRS also requires information about the extent to which the Bank
is exposed to risks arising from financial instruments, and a description of management's
objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks.

1

1.1

1.2
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007 (continued)

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective 1 June 2006). IFRIC 9 consid-
ers whether the treatment of an embedded derivative has to be reassessed subsequently if
certain events occur. The Interpretation concludes that subsequent reassessment is prohib-
ited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which case reassessment is
required.

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 (effective 1 May 2006). IFRIC 8 clarifies that IFRS 2 applies to
arrangements where Bank makes share-based payments for apparently nil or inadequate
consideration. The Interpretation explains that, if the identifiable consideration given
appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted or liability incurred,
this situation typically indicates that other consideration has been or will be received. This
interpretation is not relevant to the Bankʼs operations.

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective 1 November 2006). IFRIC
10 prohibits the reversal of the impairment losses recognised in an interim period on good-
will and investments in equity instruments and financial assets carried at cost, at a subse-
quent balance sheet date. This interpretation is not relevant to the Bankʼs operations.

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective 1 March 2007). IFRIC
11 addresses how to apply IFRS 2 to share-based payment arrangements involving a
Bank's own equity instruments or equity instruments of another Bank in the same group
(e.g. equity instruments of its parent). This interpretation is not relevant to the Bankʼs oper-
ations.

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective in 2007
and not early adopted

IFRS 8 Operating Segments (effective 1 January 2009). IFRS 8 requires a Bank to adopt
the ʻmanagement approach' to reporting on the financial performance of its operating seg-
ments. The Standard sets out requirements for disclosure of information about the Bankʼs
operating segments and also about the Bankʼs products and services, the geographical
areas in which it operates, and its major customers. The disclosure should enable users of
its financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business activities
in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective in 2007 and not
early adopted (continued)

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs – Revised (effective 1 January 2009). The main change from the
previous version of IAS 23 is the removal of the option of immediately recognising as an
expense borrowing costs that relate to assets that take a substantial period of time to get
ready for use or sale.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised (effective 1 January 2009). The
revised IAS 1 requires information in the financial statements to be aggregated on the basis
of shared characteristics and to introduce a statement of comprehensive income. This will
enable readers to analyse changes in a company's equity resulting from transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners separately from ʻnon-owner' changes. The revisions
include changes in the titles of some of the financial statements to reflect their function more
clearly (for example, the balance sheet is renamed a statement of financial position). The
new titles are not mandatory for use in the financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of finan-
cial statements - Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
(effective 1 January 2009). The amendments require entities to classify the following types
of financial instruments as equity, provided they have particular features and meet specific
conditions: a) puttable financial instruments (for example, some shares issued by co-opera-
tive entities); b) instruments, or components of instruments, that impose on the Bank an obli-
gation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the Bank only on liq-
uidation (for example, some partnership interests and some shares issued by limited life
entities). Additional disclosures are required about the instruments affected by the amend-
ments.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

c) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective in 2007
and not relevant

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 July 2009). IAS 27
(revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded
in equity if there is no change in control. They will no longer result in goodwill or gains and
losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining inter-
est in the Bank is re-measured to fair value and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective 1 July 2009). The new standard continues to apply
the acquisition method to business combinations, with some significant changes. For exam-
ple, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition
date, with some contingent payments subsequently re-measured at fair value through
income. Goodwill may be calculated based on the parentʼs share of net assets or it may
include goodwill related to the minority interest. All transaction costs will be expensed.

Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-Based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations (effec-
tive 1 January 2009). The amendment deals with two matters. It clarifies that vesting condi-
tions are service conditions and performance conditions only. Other features of a share-
based payment are not vesting conditions. It also specifies that all cancellations, whether by
the Bank or by other parties, should receive the same accounting treatment.

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements (effective 1 January 2008). IFRIC 12 address-
es how service concession operators should apply existing IFRSs to account for the obliga-
tions they undertake and rights they receive in service concession arrangements.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective 1 July 2008). IFRIC 13 addresses
accounting by entities that grant loyalty award credits to customers who buy other goods or
services. Specifically, it explains how such entities should account for their obligations to
provide free or discounted goods or services to customers who redeem award credits.

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction (effective 1 January 2008). IFRIC 14 provides general guidance on how
to assess the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of the surplus that can be recognised as an
asset. It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be affected when there is a
statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the cash flow statement consist of cash and bal-
ances with banks and short-term negotiable securities. Cash flows arising from operating
funds are stated after excluding the impact of foreign currency translation differences on
asset and liability classes.

Cash and balances with banks comprise coins and bank notes and balances with other cen-
tral and commercial banks. Short-term negotiable securities are highly liquid investments of
maturities less than 3 months that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses result-
ing from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
first in the income statement (and included in the net profit for the year) and then transferred
on the statement of changes in equity to foreign currency reserves as required by the
Central Bank of Lesotho Act, No. 2 of 2000 (also refer to the explanatory notes to the state-
ment of changes in equity and note 33).

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified
as available for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in
the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.
Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or
loss, and other changes in the carrying amounts are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through
profit and loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
nonmonetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are
included in the fair value reserve in equity.

1.2

1.3
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Financial assets

The bank classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss; held-to-maturity investments; available-for-sale financial
assets and cash and cash equivalents. Management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designat-
ed at fair value through profit and loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trad-
ing unless they are designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit and loss
when:

a) Doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsistencies that would arise if the
related derivatives were treated as held for trading and the underlying financial
instruments were carried at amortised cost for such as loans and advances to
customers or banks and debt securities in issue;

b) Certain investments, such as equity investments, that are managed and evaluated on
a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment
strategy and reported to key management personnel on that basis are designated at
fair value through profit and loss; and

c) Financial instruments, such as debt securities held, containing one or more embedded
derivatives significantly modify the cash flows, are designated at fair value through
profit and loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in
conjunction with designated financial assets or financial liabilities are included in ʻnet income
from financial instruments designated at fair valueʼ.

1.4
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Financial assets (continued

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market, other than:

(a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified
as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair
value through profit and loss;

(b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or

(c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other
than because of credit deterioration.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the bankʼs management has the positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. If the bank were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-
to-maturity assets, the entire category would be reclassified as available for sale.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time,
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange
rates or equity prices.

Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss,
held to maturity and available for sale are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the
bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit and loss. Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit and loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the bank has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
they are extinguished – that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.4
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity invest-
ments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of the ʻfinancial assets at fair value through profit and
lossʼ category are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Gains
and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised directly in equity, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired. At this
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in profit or
loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign currency
gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available for sale are recognised in the
income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
income statement when the entityʼs right to receive payment is established.

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If
there is no active market for a financial asset, the bank establishes fair value using valua-
tion techniques. These include the use of recent armʼs length transactions, discounted cash
flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by mar-
ket participants.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.5
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1.6 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired
and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment, resulting
from one or more loss events that occurred after initial recognition but before the balance
sheet date, that indicates that it is probable that the bank will be unable to collect all amounts
due. The carrying amount of a financial asset identified as impaired is reduced to its estimat-
ed recoverable amount.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

The recoverable amount of a financial asset at fair value through profit and loss is the quot-
ed market price for quoted instruments. For unquoted instruments, the recoverable amount
is the present value of expected cash flows discounted at the current market rate of interest
for a similar financial asset.

An available-for-sale-instrument is generally considered impaired if a significant or pro-
longed decline in the fair value of the security below its cost has occurred. Where an avail-
able-for-sale asset which has been remeasured to fair value directly through equity is
impaired, and a loss on the financial asset was previously recognised directly in equity, the
cumulative net loss that had been recognised in equity is transferred to the income state-
ment and is recognised as part of the impairment loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Where an available-for-sale asset is impaired, and an increase in the fair value of the finan-
cial asset was previously recognised in equity, the increase in fair value of the financial asset
recognised in equity is reversed to the income statement to the extent that the asset is
impaired and recognised as part of the impairment loss. Any additional impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement. If in a subsequent period, the amount relating to an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the write-down, where the instrument is a debt instrument, the write-down is reversed
through the income statement. An impairment loss in respect of an equity instrument classi-
fied as available- for-sale is not reversed through the income statement.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1.6 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of finan-
cial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a ʻloss eventʼ) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably esti-
mated.

The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impair-
ment
• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
• Breach of loan covenants or conditions; and
• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial
assets that are not individually significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not,
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assetʼs carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial assetʼs original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient,
the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an instrumentʼs fair value using an
observable market price.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment.
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the
amount of the loss has been determined.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1.7

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such
as an improvement in the debtorʼs credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in
the income statement in impairment charge for credit losses.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Owner-occupied properties

Property, Plant and Equipment comprises owner occupied properties and equipment held
foruse in the supply of services or for the Bankʼs administrative purpose. These are all ini-
tially recorded at cost. Properties under development are reflected at cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are reflected at a valuation
based on open-market fair value as determined every year end by independent profession-
al valuers, less accumulated depreciation.

Unrealised surpluses or deficits arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment are
transferred to a Revaluation Reserve Account.

The most recent independent valuation was performed at 31 December 2006.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis at rates which are cal-
culated to reduce the carrying values of these assets to estimated residual values over their
expected remaining useful lives at the following annual rates:

Fixed Asset Rates

Buildings 1.5%
Motor Vehicles 25%
Computers 20%
Office Equipment 20%
Housing Equipment 20%
Housing Furniture 10%
Office Furniture 10%
Security Equipment 20%
Sporting Equipment 20%
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Buildings in progress are not depreciated until they are put into use.

The assetsʼ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An assetʼs carrying amount is written down immediately to its recover-
able amount if the assetʼs carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of the assetʼs fair value less costs to sell and value in
use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying
amount. These are included in other operating expenses in the income statement.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale and stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recov-
ered principally through a sale transaction rather than through a continuing use.

Lessee accounting

Leases, where the bank assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership, are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of
the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments
are separated using the interest rate implicit in the lease to identify the finance cost, which
is charged against income over the lease period, and the capital repayment, which reduces
the liability to the lessor.

Leases of assets are classified as operating leases if the lessor effectively retains all the
risks and benefits. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income state-
ment on a straightline basis over the period of the lease.

1.8

1.9
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1.10 Accrual for leave pay

Employee benefits in the form of annual leave entitlements are provided for when they
accrue to employees with reference to services rendered up to the balance sheet date.

Other provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the bank has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A
provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

1.11
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1.12 Tax

Deferred Income Tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment, revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative contracts, pro-
visions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits and tax losses carried forward; and,
in relation to acquisitions, on the difference between the fair values of the net assets
acquired and their tax base. The rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date are used to determine deferred income tax. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither account-
ing nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in sub-
sidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the bank and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foresee-
able future.

Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale investments and
cash flow hedges, which are charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited or
charged directly to equity and subsequently recognised in the income statement together
with the deferred gain or loss.

Indirect tax

Indirect taxes, including non-recoverable value added tax (VAT) are separately disclosed in
the income statement.
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1.13 Revenue and expenditure

Revenues described below represent the most appropriate equivalent of turnover.
Revenue is derived substantially from the business of banker to the Government of Lesotho
and related activities and comprises net interest income and non-interest revenue.

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income statement for all interest-bear-
ing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. In terms of the effec-
tive interest method, interest is recognised at a rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the carry-
ing amount on the financial statements. Direct incremental transaction costs incurred and
origination fees received as a result of bringing margin-yielding assets on balance sheet, are
capitalised to the carrying amount of financial instruments (excluding financial instruments
at fair value through profit and loss) and amortised through interest income over the life of
the asset.

Where financial assets have been impaired, interest income continues to be recognised on
the impaired value based on the original effective interest rate. Net interest income includes
fair value adjustments on interest-bearing financial instruments held at fair value, excluding
financial instruments held for trading. Dividends received on lending activities are included
in interest income.

Non-interest revenue

Non-interest revenue includes dividends from investments, fees and commission from bank-
ing, insurance and related transactions, net revenue from exchange and securities trading
and net gains on the realisation or revaluation of investment banking assets.

Pensions, other post-retirement benefits and termination benefits

The Bank participates in a multi employer defined benefit pension plan, the assets of which
are held in a separate trustee administered fund. The pension plan is funded by payments
from employees and the employer taking into account the recommendations made by the
independent qualified Actuaries.

1.14
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1.15 Deferred Currency expenditure

Expenditure incurred in connection with printing, minting and issue of Maloti Notes and
Coins is amortised over a period of three years. The appropriateness of this amortisation
period is reviewed from time to time by the Directors.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annu-
ally for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assetʼs carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an assetʼs
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Share Capital

(a) Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
(b) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends paid to the Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund in terms of Section 21 (5)
of the Central Bank Act are set out in the statement of changes in equity and recognised in
the period in which it was earned.

Intangible Asset: Deferred Computer Software expenditure

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimat-
ed useful lives (three years).
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are
recognised as an expense as incurred.

Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in
presentation in current year.

1.17

1.16

1.18

1.19
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2. Financial Risk Management

The bankʼs activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of
risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The bankʼs aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on financial per-
formance.

The bankʼs risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by
means of reliable and up-to date information systems. The bank regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging
best practice.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other opera-
tional risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

Refer to the Risk Management Statements on pages 81-87.

Fair values

All financial assets are disclosed at values approximating their fair values. The following
bases are used in determining fair value:

a) Balances due to and from banks

The amounts include inter-bank placement and items in course of collection.
The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight deposits is their carrying amount.
Fixed deposits are shown at current value including accrued interest.

b) Loans and advances

Loans and advances are shown net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value
of loans and receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows
expected to be received. Where significant concentrations of non-market related loans exist
appropriate impairment has been effected.

c) Investment securities

Investment securities held as available for sale are shown at market value. Other instru-
ments such as treasury bills are based on the contracted value, including accrued discount,
which is considered to approximate the current market value.

3.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Foreign Cash

Rand Currency Holding

ZAR Coins Holding
ZAR Notes Holding

Balances with banks

Current and Call Accounts:
Overseas Banks
South African Banks

Total Current and Call Accounts

Fixed deposits:
Overseas Banks
South African Banks

Total Fixed deposits

Total Cash and cash equivalents

Notes and coins held by the Bank as cash on hand at the
end of the financial year have been netted off against the
liability for notes and coins in circulation for the purpose of
the cash flow statement because they do not represent cur-
rency in circulation.

Due from Banks

Accrued Interest receivable:
Due from banks
ZAR Call Accounts
ZAR Fixed Deposit Accounts
NON ZAR Call Accounts

2006
M '000

781

33 303

-
33 303

2 056 600

505 568
452 003
957 571

297 958
801 071

1 099 029

2 090 684

223
25 909

4 308
30 440

2007
M '000

215

47 724

-
47 724

2 762 190

192 080
504 349
696 429

1 159 389
906 372

2 065 761

2 810 129

116
31 200
7 805

39 121

1

2
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Treasury Bills

US Treasury bills at fair value:
Maturing within 1 month
Maturing within 1 to 3 months

ZAR Treasury bills at fair value:
Maturing within 1 month
Maturing within 1 to 3 months

The movements in investments are:
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Disposals
Exchange revaluation
Closing carrying amount

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the US
treasury department for a term of three months, six
months or a year. All bills are subject to fixed interest
rate risk (2006: variable/fixed).

Treasury Notes & Bonds

US Bonds at fair value
ZAR Bonds at fair value
US Bonds accruals
ZAR Bonds accruals

The movements in investments are:
Opening carrying amout
Additions
Disposals
Exchange revaluation
Fair value adjustment
Closing carrying amount

The Treasury Notes & Bonds held by the Bank
are treated as available for sale instruments and
revaluations are done quarterly.

2006
M '000

105 185
135 652

39 791
135 340
415 968

49 320
1 028 804
( 662 888)

732
415 968

693 706
1 285 155

-
-

1 978 861

1 423 832
690 197

( 88 161)
98 080

( 145 087)
1 978 861

2007
M '000

-
236 735

49 068
146 766
432 569

415 968
1 278 100

(1 257 432)
( 4 067)
432 569

967 039
1 978 383

12 272
152 333

3 110 027

1 978 861
1 966 558
( 611 196)
( 19 079)

( 205 117)
3 110 027

3

4
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IMF Subcription Account

Balance at 01 January
Exchange revaluation
Balance at 31 December

The Lesotho Government Quota in the International
Monetary Fund is SDR 34,900,000. The local currency
equivalent of the subscription account at balance sheet
date is converted at the rate of 0.0906351 (2006:
0.110299).

IMF Holding of Special Drawing Rights

Balance at 1 January
Net transactions
Exchange revaluation
Balance at 31 December

The value of SDR3,974,184 allocated by the International
Monetary Fund less utilisation is converted at 0.0906351
(2006: SDR143,659 at 0.110299).

IMF Funded PRGF Advances

Balance at 01 January
Paid during the year
Exchange revaluation
Balance at 31 December

These are funds secured under the IMF Poverty Reduction
and Growth Facility and on-lent through the Government of
Lesotho. The SDR equivalents and translation thereof are
shown in note 18.

2006
M '000

364 657
( 48 244)
316 413

3 249
( 1 152)

( 795)
1 302

255 993
( 3 693)

( 33 348)
218 952

2007
M '000

316 413
68 648

385 061

1 302
39 580
2 966

43 848

218 952
( 15 868)

44 061
247 145

5

6

7
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Lesotho Government Securities

Maturing within 1 month
Maturing within 1 to 3 months
Maturing within 3 to 6 months
Total treasury bills stated at fair value

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Lesotho
Treasury department for a term of three months, six
months or a year. All bills are subject to fixed interest rate
risk and they are held to maturity.

Deferred Currency Expenditure (notes and coins)

Balance at 1 January
Expenditure during the year
Amortised during the year
Balance at 31 December

Expenditure incurred in connection with printing, minting
and issue of Maloti notes and coins is amortised over
three years.

2006
M '000

39
-
-

39

2 824
345

( 1 528)
1 641

2007
M '000

61
-
-

61

1 641
10 987

( 5 190)
7 438

8

9
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71

Deferred Taxation

Balance at 1 January
(Reversing) in current year
Arising in the current year
Balance at 31 December

Deferred Taxation comprises:
Capital allowances
Provisions
Deferred Expenses
Off-market loans
Fair value adjustment of fixed assets
Assets available for sale
Foreign exchange Revaluation as restated
Bond Revaluation Reserve
Balance at 31 December

Deferred tax arising on:
Foreign currency translation
Other Income Statement items
Reserves

Claims on Staff

Housing Loans
Car Loans
Furniture Loans
Other Loans & Advances

2006
M '000

244 969
( 791)
82 420

326 598

74
( 1 984)

1 576
129

11 532
5 375

346 168
( 36 272)
326 598

100 407
5 170

221 021
326 598

9 613
8 372

936
1 525

20 446

2007
M '000

326 598
( 7 295)

-
- 319 303

1 264
( 2 960)

2 421
1 434

958
-

403 737
( 87 551)
319 303

57 569
2 159

259 575
319 303

9 958
8 490

927
1 885

21 260

11

12
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Other Assets

Cheques for collection and uncleared items
Other Prepayments
Other Claims

Notes and Coins Issued

Notes
Coins

The Bilateral Monetary agreement between the
Government of the Republic of South Africa and the
Government of the Kingdom of Lesotho states that both
Rand currency issued by the South African Reserve Bank
and Maloti currency issued by the Central Bank of Lesotho
are legal tender within Lesotho and are convertible at par.

Notes and coins held by the Bank as cash on hand at the
end of the financial year have been netted off against the
liability for notes and coins in circulation for the purpose of
the cash flow statement because they do not represent
currency in circulation.

Deposits

Deposits from Banks - Non-interest bearing
Bankers

Other Deposits - Non-interest bearing
International Institutions
Parastatals and others

Other Deposits - Interest bearing
Staff call account
Total Deposits

2006
M '000

2 174
1 394

924
4 492

365 870
11 842

377 712

126 299

2 616
230 982

11 882
371 779

2007
M '000

2 139
820
932

3 891

389 224
12 997

402 221

208 444

2 257
191 809

9 810
412 320

13

15

14
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for the year ended 31 December 2007

IMF Maloti Currency Holding

Securities account
General resources accounts

IMF Special Drawing Rights Allocation

Balance at 1 January
Exchange Revaluation
Balance at 31 December

Lesotho's allocation by IMF of SDR3,739,000 converted
at 0.0906351 (2006: 0.110299)

IMF-PRGF Facility

Balance at 1 January
Paid during the year
Exchange revaluation
Balance at 31 December

This IMF loan was secured under the Poverty Reduction
and Growth Facility. The Ministry of Finance tranche is
now accounted for through the Bank's records to present
the amount due to the IMF. The balance due to the IMF
amounted to SDR22,400,000 converted at 0.0906351 as
at 31 December 2007 (2006: 0.110299). The loan has
been on-lent as per note 7. Interest expense and
exchange rate differences are borne by the Government
of Lesotho.

Taxation Liabilities

Balance at 1 January
Paid during the year
Current year charge
Provisional payments made
Balance at 31 December

2006
M '000

245 447
38 465

283 912

39 067
( 5 168)
33 899

255 993
( 3 693)

( 33 348)
218 952

11 099
( 11 099)

45 269
( 30 673)

14 596

2007
M '000

245 447
100 062
345 509

33 899
7 354

41 253

218 952
( 15 868)

44 061
247 145

14 596
( 14 596)

83 846
( 50 566)

33 280

16

18

19

17
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Due to Government of Lesotho Consolidated Fund

Balance at 1 January
Prior year final dividend paid in current year
Profit appropriations for the current year
Current year interim dividend paid
Balance due at 31 December

Accruals

Donations suspense - Government's Referral Hospital
Accrued Severance pay
Various Accruals
Promissory Note to Agric. Bank Building
Divisional Cheques A/Cs
Other

Less: Transfer to non-current liabilities held for sale
( see note 32)

Share Capital

Authorised
Authorised capital

Issued
Issued and fully paid

The entire Issued share capital is held by the Government
of Lesotho.

Interest Income

Foreign Currency Deposits
Foreign Currency Investments
Government Securities
Staff loans
IAS 39 Interest - off-market loan adjustment
Other institutions

2006
M '000

44 527
( 44 527)

94 849
( 15 845)

79 004

27 988
6 867
2 914

13 000
2 966
2 707

56 442

( 13 000)
43 442

100 000

25 000

125 188
147 970

5
401
517

12
274 093

2007
M '000

79 004
( 79 004)
240 822

( 48 197)
192 625

31 337
10 453
6 850

-
1 223
2 702

52 565

-
52 565

100 000

25 000

214 369
235 572

10
419

-
-

450 370

20

22

21

23
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Interest Expense

Parastatal and Government deposits
Local bank deposits
IMF SDR allocation account
Other Investments
Staff call account

Other Income

Rent received
Lehakoe proceeds
Profit on sale of Property, Plant and Equiptment
Other

Personnel Costs

Staff Welfare expenses
Non-executive directors' fees
Executive directors' salaries
Key management
Staff salaries and expenses
Pension fund contributions
Gratuity and severance expenses

Key management refers to departmental heads.

Other Operating Costs and Expense per nature

Administration and other expenses
Auditors' remuneration - current year
Deferred currency expenses amortised
Deferred computer software expenses amortised
Depreciation
Property expenses

2006
M '000

26
11

1 957
31 314

-
33 308

2 131
4 884

-
776

7 791

1 816
119

1 085
3 418

37 123
2 066
2 534

48 161

13 517
591

1 527
3 870
6 715
8 326

34 546

2007
M '000

28
1

1 638
46 640

-
48 307

695
6 374

21 770
1 179

30 018

3 354
138

1 802
2 618

38 647
2 194
5 158

53 911

25 036
351

5 190
2 786
9 915
8 064

51 342

24

26

25

27
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Taxation

Normal tax for the year
Deferred tax arising on foreign currency translation
Deferred tax arising on other income statement items

Reconciliation of tax expense:
Chargeable Profit

Tax calculated at 25%
Add:
Donations
Severance pay Provision
Gratuity Provision
Training Expenses
Depreciation
50 % Entertainment
Less:
Capital Allowances
Staff loans interest unwound
Training expenses 125%
Income tax expens

2006
M '000

45 269
100 407

5 170
150 846

164 258

45 171

84
226

37
801

1 847
11

( 1 765)
( 142)

( 1 001)
45 269

2007
M '000

83 846
57 569
2 159

143 574

326 826

81 706

59
883
92

722
2 479

21

( 1 214)
-

( 902)
83 846

28
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated
from operations:

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Deferred currency expenses amortised
Deferred computer software expenses amortised
Net Profit/loss on disposal of fixed assets
Fair value adjustment on bonds
Unrealised Exchange rate fluctuations

Net cash generated by operating activities

Changes in working capital:
Balances due from other banks and other debtors'
accounts
Deposit accounts
Creditors and other liability accounts
Liabilities available for sale
Changes in IMF Maloti Currency holding
Exchange rate fluctuations
Changes in IMF Subscription account
Changes in Special Drawing Rights holding account
Changes in Special Drawing Rights allocation account

Cash utilised by changes in working capital

Cash flow from operating activities

2006
M '000

523 625

6 715
1 527

-
145 087

-

676 954

( 15 663)

751 420
( 12 897)

13 000
( 43 379)

( 357 755)
48 246

1 947
( 5 169)

379 750

1 056 704

2007
M '000

570 013

9 914
5 190
2 786

( 21 770)
205 117

( 267 557)

503 693

( 173 287)

1 755 057
9 122

( 13 000)
61 597

-
( 68 648)
( 42 546)

7 355

1 535 650

2 039 343

29
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Capital Commitments

There were capital commitments at the end of 2007 in
respect of the office building in the amount of M2.1 million
and for a Document Management System and Midas
Upgrade in the amount of M2.0 million.

Post retirement obligations

The Bank contributes towards a post retirement pension
scheme that covers all permanent employees. This fund is
a multi-employer plan and the assets and liabilities relat-
ing to the employees of the company cannot be seperate-
ly determined. The pensions benefits are defined based
on final salary and are fully funded. The assets of the fund
are held in an independent trustee administered fund.

Non-current Asset and Liabilities held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale:
Building transferred from Property, Plant and Equipment
(note 10)

Non-current liabilities held for sale:
Promissary notes transferred from accruals (note 21)

Transferred out of property, plant and equipment is a prop-
erty held by Kotulo Properties (Pty) Ltd to the value of M
34.5 million. This company was formed by the Bank
specifically to own the property of the liquidated Lesotho
Agricultural Development Bank that the Government of
Lesotho allocated to the Bank for the purpose of providing
office space for another commercial bank to enter the
financial market in Lesotho.

2006
M '000

34 500

13 000

2007
M '000

-

-

30

31

32
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Non-current Asset and Liabilities held for sale
(continued)

The process of voluntary winding-up of Kotulo Properties
(Pty) Ltd was concluded. The shareholders of Kotulo
Properties (Pty) Ltd had been holding the shares on behalf
of the Bank and therefore the property and accompanying
rent collected were included in the financial statements.
With the voluntary winding-up, the property of the liquidat-
ed Lesotho Agricultural Development Bank was vested
directly in the Central Bank of Lesotho. The process of dis-
posal of the property by public tender had commenced by
31 December 2006, and were finalised during March
2007. The promissory notes issued in respect of the
Lesotho Agricultural Development Bank to the value of
M13m in favour of the Government of Lesotho was paid on
10 July 2007.

Indirect Taxes

Indirect Taxes that are not recoverable due to the
nature of the Bank

Intangible Asset - Deferred Computer Software

Balance at 1 January
Paid during the year
Amortised during the year
Balance at 31 December

Related party transactions

The Bank is owned by the Government of Lesotho.

A number of banking transactions are entered into with the
Government as the Central Bank also acts as banker to
the Government in the normal course of business.

The deposits with the Bank held by the Government is
disclosed separately in the Balance Sheet.

All payments relating to taxes, property rates and service
utilisation are at arms length.

2006
M '000

1 612

1 943
6 591

( 3 870)
4 664

2007
M '000

-

4 664
367

( 2 786)
2 245

32

33

34

35
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Related party transactions (continued)

Loans to staff are disclosed in note 12.

Gross advances made to:
Directors:

Heads of Divisions:

Balances due at year end:
Directors:

Heads of Divisions:

Interest charged for the year:
Directors:

Heads of Divisions:

No advances were made to the Governors and accordingly no balance is outstanding.

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties and
none is required.

The loans issued to directors and other key management personnel during the year
are repayable monthly and have interest rates of 3%.

The Central Bank however requires and accordingly has the following as collateral
•termination benefits
•title deeds
•registered mortgages

Further, all short term and long term loans are covered by insurance policies to
ensure recoveries in instances of death of employees.

80

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2006
M '000

-
344
28

-
1 161

41

316
21

1 184
2 041

101

-
4
-

20
35
2

2007
M '000

-
299
20

1 139
1 987

103

-
237
12

1 036
1 754

56

-
5
1

18
31
3

36

2007
M '000

House
Car
Furniture
House
Car
Furniture

House
Car
Furniture
House
Car
Furniture

House
Car
Furniture
House
Car
Furniture
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
RISK MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Risk is an inherent feature of the Bankʼs activities. The Bank is committed to managing these risks by apply-
ing appropriate structures, systems and procedures. These structures, systems and procedures evolve con-
tinuously in response to changes in the financial and economic environment in which the Bank operates.

Management structures

The organisational structure of the Bank is designed to ensure an appropriate allocation of responsibilities.
This is supported by formal delegation of authority and segregation of duties to achieve sound internal con-
trols.

Risk elements

The main risk elements in the Bankʼs activities are market price, credit, market liquidity, operational,
human resource, legal and reputational risks. These are discussed below.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in market conditions and prices. In its monetary
policy operations, the Bank may be obliged to accept certain market-related risks, which would not be fully
compatible with pure commercial practice.

The Bank manages its market risks responsibly, utilising appropriate organisational structures and
procedures. Exposures and limits are measured continuously and strategies are routinely reviewed by man-
agement on a regular basis.

The following table summarises the Bank's exposure to Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations as at 31
December 2007:

Currency Value of Exchange Maloti Equivalent
M'000

Cash and Balances with Ranks
South Africa
United States
Botswana
England
European Union
Switzerland
SDR
LSL

Treasury Bills
South Africa
USA

Treasury Notes & Bonds
South Africa
United States

3 836 590
236 987

6
22 742
63 632

366
235

(6 395 464)

195 834
34 755

2 130 716
143 773

1.0000
6.8115
1.1268

13.6508
10.0255
6.0550

10.7520
1.0000

1.0000
6.8115

1.0000
6.8115

3 836 590
1 614 240

7
310 449
637 943

2 217
2 529

(6 395 464)

195 834
236 735

2 130 716
979 311
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
RISK MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Market liquidity risk

Market liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments as
they fall due.

The Bank maintains sufficient short-term liquid funds to meet obligations or commitments as they fall due. It
also has sufficient reserves to absorb losses arising from market fluctuations.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to meet its contractual obli-
gations. Credit risk arises from advances to and deposits the Bank makes with other institutions, and the set-
tlement of financial instruments.

Credit risk policies are formulated by a committee, which sets counterparty limits and security
arrangements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss due to factors such as inadequate systems, management failure,
ineffective internal controls, fraud, human error or other external events.

The Bank addresses these risks through comprehensive internal controls, back-up facilities, contingency
planning and regular internal audit reviews.

Human resource risk

The particular nature of the Bankʼs activities necessitates specialised knowledge in certain areas.

In order to ensure an adequate knowledge base at all times, the Bank invests significantly in staff training and
succession planning for key personnel.

Legal risk

Legal risk arises from any uncertainty of enforceability, whether through legal or judicial processes, of the obli-
gations of the Bankʼs counterparties.

The Bank minimises such uncertainties through continuous consultation with internal and external legal advis-
ers to better understand the nature of such risks and to improve the documentation and structure of transac-
tions.

In addition, the Bank has put in place procedures designed to ensure compliance with all statutory and regu-
latory requirements.

Reputational risk

The Bankʼs objective of achieving and maintaining price stability in Lesotho exposes it to external scrutiny and
possible criticism in the event of any failures.

The Bank adheres to best practice established in keeping with international standards and, to this end, it
maintains close liaison with its regional peers.

The Bank also strives for full compliance with the Basel Core Principles for effective banking supervision.
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CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
CREDIT RISK ANALYSIS
for the year ended 31 December 2007

CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS
Cash
Cash in ZAR
Cash in USD
Cash in GBP
Cash in EUR

Balance with Banks

Call and Current A/CS
Swiss Bank
B.I.S
Deutsche Bundesbank
B.I.S
Bank de Belgique
Commerz
Bank of England
Standard Chartered London
Crown Agents
B.I.S
Federal Reserve Bank of N.Y
BankTrust.N.Y
B.I.S. Basle
Bank of N.Y
CITI N.Y
Crown Agents
South African Reserve Bank
ABSA Bank
Investec Bank
First Rand
Citi Bank
Bank of N.Y
NedBank
Standard Bank
Standard Merchant
ACT.ABSA
Standard Chartered London

Fixed Deposits
B.I.S
Firstrand
Crown Agents
Crown Agents
BIS
FedralReseve N.Y
Bank of N.Y
Crown Agents
ABSA Bank
Investec
Firstrand
CitiBank
NedBank
Standard Bank

Staff Loans (refer note 12 and 35)

M '000
Carrying
amount

2 810 129
47 939
47 724

183
3

29

2 762 190

696 429
542

1 674
427

90 783
14

10 070
1 568
5 953
1 414

65 823
1 036

298
2 260

167
7 730
2 310

372 743
8 168

41 399
6 539

30 860
5

9 313
6 334
1 307

27 685
7

2 065 761
360 918
100 255
70 179

157 996
75 377

252 026
21 657

120 981
120 000
296 372
100 000
100 000
180 000
110 000

21 260

M '000
Maximum
exposure

-

2 762 190

542
1 674

427
90 783

14
10 070
1 568
5 953
1 414

65 823
1 036

298
2 260

167
7 730
2 310

372 743
8 168

41 399
6 539

30 860
5

9 313
6 334
1 307

27 698
7

360 918
100 255
70 179

157 996
75 377

252 026
21 657

120 981
120 000
296 372
100 000
100 000
180 000
110 000

21 260

Held in
Deno-
mination

ZAR
USD
GBP
EUR

CHF
CHF
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
BWP

EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
GBP
USD
USD
USD
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR
ZAR

ZAR

Type of
collateral
held

none

none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none

none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none
none

refer note 35

Credit
rating

n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

F1/A
n/a

F1/A+
F1/A

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

F1+/AA-
F1+/AA

F1/A
n/a

F1+AAA
F1+/AA-
F1+/AA+

F1+/AA
F1+/AA-
F1+/AA

F1+/AA+
F1+/AA+
F1+/AAA

n/a
F1+AA+

F1/A
n/a
n/a
n/a

F1+/AA-
F1/A

F1+/AAA
F1+/AA-
F1+AA+
F1+/AA

F1+/AA-
F1+AA+

The table below shows the investment spread of the funds of the Bank globally and the credit rating of such institutions
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87

CENTRAL BANK OF LESOTHO
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2007

In terms of the Central Bank of Lesotho Act 2000, in the case of any year at the end of which the
general reserve of the Bank does not exceed the minimum paid-up capital of the Bank, one third of
the net profits will be allocated to general reserve and in case where general reserve exceeds paid
up capital but not less than four times, one sixth of the net profits will be allocated to general
reserve. However, where the general reserve of the Bank exceeds four times the paid-up capital,
with the approval of the Minister, further allocations may be made from time to time to the general
reserve to increase it beyond four times the minimum paid-up capital. At the end of 2007 the gen-
eral reserve had reached more than four times the paid-up capital of the Bank and further alloca-
tions were not made to the general reserve.
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